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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Does an employee who loses his job as a result of an 
antitrust conspiracy have standing to pursue an antitrust 
claim arising from the violation? 

2. Is the loss of employment an antitrust injury? 



PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDINGS 

Petitioner Andrew Feldman was the appellant in the 
court below. Respondents American Dawn; Inc.; Vyto 
Tozer, and Paul Ra~Lanu were Lhe appellees. 
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CITATIONS TO OPINION 

The order of the Court of Appeals for the Eleventh 
Circuit denying Andrew Feldman's petition for rehearing 
was entered, without a published opinion, on May 1, 2017. 
See Appendix ("App") E. The underlying opinion, dated 
March 3, 2017, of the Eleventh Circuit was reported at 849 
F. 3d 1333. A copy of this opinion appears at App. A. The 
appellate opinion affirmed the order of the U.S. District 
Court for the Northern District of Georgia dated March 3, 
2016, denying the Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration. 
The District Court's order appears at App. D. The 
Eleventh Circuit affirmed the underlying District Court 
opinion and order granting the Respondents' Motion to 
Dismiss. A copy of this order appears at App. B, and 
the District Court's judgment appears at App. C. The 
statutory provisions at issue appear at App. F. 

JURISDICTION 

Supreme Court jurisdiction is invoked under 28 U.S. C. 
§ 1254(1). As a result of the order of the Eleventh Circuit, 
entered on May 1, 2017, which denied Appellant's petition 
for rehearing, the opinion dated March 3, 2017 became a 
final judgement. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY 
PROVISIONS AT ISSUE 

15 U.S.C. § 1: Trusts, etc., in restraint of trade illegal; 
penalty 

Every contract, combination in the form of trust 
or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade 
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or commerce among the several States, or with 
foreign nations, is hereby declared to be illegal. 

15 U.S.C. § 15: Suits by Persons Injured: 

(a) Amount of recovery; prejudgment interest. 
Except as provided in subsection (b), any person 
who shall be injured in his business or property 
by reason of anything forbidden in the antitrust 
laws may sue therefor in any district court of 
the United States in the district in which the 
defendant resides or is found or has an agent, 
without respect to the amount in controversy, 
and shall recover threefold the damages by 
him sustained, and the cost of suit, including a 
reasonable attorney's fee ... 

(c) Definitions. For purposes of this section-

(1) the term 'commercial activity' shall 
have the meaning given it in section 
1603(d) of title 28, United States Code 
[28 uses § I603(d)J .... 

STATRMENT 

A. Factual Background 

Petitioner, Andrew Feldman ("Feldman"), is a former 
employee of the Respondent, American Dawn, Inc. 
("ADI"), a manufacturer and importer of textile products 
that are sold in wholesale, commercial; and retail markets 
throughout the United States. App. 2a. Respondent Vyto 
Tozer ("Tozer") was Feldman's supervisor at ADI. App. 
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3a. Respondent Paul Rasband ("Rasband"), at all times 
relevant, acted as an independent contractor/consultant to 
ALSCO, the dominant purchaser of commercial restaurant 
rental linen products in North America. App. 2a-3a. 

ADI produces linen products for institutional and 
commercial use. App. 20a. ALSCO sells and rents these 
products to institutional and commercial customers. Id. 
The market for these products has few participants: 
ALSCO is the dominant purchaser of commercial linen 
products, and most of the products that it purchased 
were manufactured by either ADI or the Venus Group 
("Venus"). App. 20a-21a. 

During the course of his sales career, Feldman 
cultivated a strong relationship with ALSCO. Over 
the course of his tenure at ADI, he made in excess of 
$130 million in sales to ALSCO. Court of Appeals Joint 
Appendix ("CA JA'') Tab 29 ~ 18. Feldman was lauded 
by ALSCO purchasers as being one of the "best" sales 
representatives in the industry. CA JA Tab 29 ~ 16. 
Along the way, he became known as an advocate for 
ALSCO's interests inside ADI. CA JA Tab 29 ~ 107. 
Feldman expressed concern to his superiors that ADI was 
intentionally selling substandard goods to ALSCO. App. 
22a. In 2011, ADI terminated Feldman, who subsequently 
secured employment with Baltic Linens ("Baltic"), a 
competitor of ADV I d. 

After he began working in his new position, 
Respondents took action to freeze Feldman out of the 

1. Because he went to work for a competitor, Feldman was 
denied severance. App. 4a. 
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relevant market. As outlined in the District Court's 
opinion, Tozer and Rasband acted to restrict Feldman's 
contact with ALSCO. App. 24a -25a ("[a]fter Plaintiff 
began working for Baltic, ALSCO representatives 
contacted Baltic supervisors and directed them to keep 
Plaintiff away from ALSCO facilities and buyers and 
expressed deep concerns over Baltic's hiring of Plaintiff. 
[Rasband] contacted Plaintiff's supervisors at Baltic 
and informed them that it was a big mistake for them to 
have hired Plaintiff, and that he was no longer welcome 
at ALSCO"). See also App. 4a-5a. Feldman was barred 
from selling to the dominant purchaser, ALSCO. App. 28a. 
Because he no longer was making sales to the dominant 
purchaser, Baltic terminated Feldman. App. 26a. He lost 
over 75% of his income and was forced to seek work outside 
of Georgia. !d. 

B. Proceedings Below 

Feldman commenced this action by filing a Complaint 
on Sept. 18, 2014. On September 16, 2015, the District 
Court granted Respondents' Motions to Dismiss. App. 
59a-60a. In so doing, it ruled that Feldman did not suffer 
an antitrust injury because " ... one individual's loss of 
employment is not thP type of injury antitrust la'.vs 
were intended to prevent." App. 32a. The Court denied 
Feldman's Motion for Reconsideration on March 16, 
2016. App. 61a-63a. The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the 
District Court's order on March 3, 2017. App. 18a-19a. 
The Appellate Court-echoing the District Court-held 
that Feldman's loss of employment was collateral to an 
underlying antitrust violation and did not give rise to a 
cognizable antitrust injury. App. 9a-10a. Relying upon 
its decision in Nat'l Indep. Theatre Exhibitors, Inc. v. 
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Buena VistaDistrib Co., 748 F.2d 602 (11th Cir.l984), the 
Eleventh Circuit ruled that "[n]either an officer nor an 
employee of a corporation has standing to bring an action 
in his own right for an antitrust violation causing injury 
to the corporation and its business." App. lOa (quoting 
Nat'l Indep. Theatre Exhibitors, Inc., 748 F.2d at 608). 
Feldman moved for a rehearing before an en bane panel 
of the Eleventh Circuit; this motion was denied on May 
1, 2017. App. 64a-65a. 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION 

The following constitute special and important 
reasons for this appeal to be allowed: 

A. In light of the fact that the Eleventh Circuit's 
apparent finding that there was a violation of the 
antitrust laws, denying Feldman standing amounts 
to a watering-down of antitrust enforcement. 

The Eleventh Circuit panel found a threshold 
violation of antitrust law, namely a conspiracy to harm 
competition in the commercial linen industry. App. 9a-10a. 
However, it deemed that Baltic, not Feldman, had a claim 
notwithstanding the fact that Feldman suffered an injury 
as well. App. 9a-lla. However Baltic did not file a claim. 
The Eleventh Circuit acted against the strong statutory 
and public policy of stimulating claims from the broadest 
possible array of injured victims, including individuals, 
with incentives, including treble damages and attorneys' 
fees, in order to protect competition in the economy and 
deter predatory behavior. See e.g. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (2016); 
United States v. Borden Co., 347 U.S. 514, 518 (1954); 
Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors of PSA, Inc. 
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v. Edwards, 437 F.3d 1145, 1153 (lith Cir. 2006) (quoting 
Perma Life Mufflers, Inc. v. Int'l Parts Corp., 392 U.S. 
134, 138-9 (1968)). 

Feldman's injury arose from the fact that he was 
hindered in participating in the market as a sales 
representative. While he is obviously harmed by this 
injury, customers of consumer linens were also harmed. 
As a joint guidance statement published by the Federal 
Trade Commission and the Department of Justice states, 

[f]ree and open markets are the foundation 
of a vibrant economy. Just as competition 
among sellers in an open marketplace gives 
consumers the benefits of lower prices, higher 
quality products and services, more choices, 
and greater innovation, competition among 
employers helps actual and potential employees 
through higher wages, better benefits, or other 
terms of employment. Consumers can also gain 
from competition among employers because a 
more competitive workforce may create more 
or better goods and services. 

TT ~ DPn~rtmPnt {)f .Tndit>o L\ ntit ... ,wt nininir.~ -"- T;'r...:l~·~~ 1 
_ o ·- o - - ~- -·- ---~._.. ...... _ ...., .... ....., ...... ~..,.&.'"-''-" ..I....L~..I.V.LV.L UUV .J....J.I. V .I.O.I.V.I..I. ~ ~ tU'Ci~ a,~ 

Trade Commission, Antitrust Guidance for Human 
Resource Professionals, at 2 (2016), available online 
at https:/ /www.ftc.gov/system/files/documents/public _ 
statements/992623/ftc-doj_hr_guidance_final_l0-20-16. 
pdf. Feldman was harmed because he was frozen out 
of the marketplace. Baltic was harmed because it could 
not transact business with the dominant purchaser of 
commercial linens while Feldman worked there. ALSCO 
was harmed because it could not buy commercial linens for 
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prices other than as Respondents dictated. This situation 
implicates the policy statement cited above, which reflects 
that restraints in the labor market may cause harm to 
customers. ld. 

The exclusion of Feldman from the marketplace 
amounts to a restraint in the labor market. Federal courts 
have acknowledged that antitrust law prohibits such 
restraints. See e.g. Eichorn v. AT&T Corp., 248 F. 3d 131, 
140 (3d Cir. 2001); Brown v. Pro Football, 50 F.3d 1041, 
1054 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (citing Radovich v. Nat'l Football 
League, 352 U.S. 445, 449-52 (1957)). See also Mark W. 
Pletcher et al., In Restraint of Trade: The Judicial Law 
Clerk Hiring Plan, 70 U. CoLo. L. REv. 147, 169 (2007) ("[t] 
he prevailing view is that the market for employee skills 
is a market subject to the provisions of the Sherman Act, 
and, accordingly, a multi-employer agreement 'unilaterally 
imposing uniform industry-wide terms of employment, 
and thereby restraining competition in the labor market' 
runs afoul of the antitrust laws"). After leaving ADI, 
Rasband-in concert with Tozer-acted to bar Feldman 
from transacting business with ALSCO, the dominant 
purchaser in the industry. App. 24a-25a. Feldman submits 
that this concerted agreement not to deal was a restraint 
in the labor market. Eichorn., 248 F. 3d at140; Brown, 50 
F. 3d at 1054 (citing Radovich, 352 U.S. at 449-52). 

The Eleventh Circuit found facts in order to chose 
between Feldman and a non-party for the provision of 
potential relief, which should have been the province of 
a jury. At the FED. R. C1v. PRoc. 12(b)(6) stage, when 
pleadings establish the elements of a violation, injury 
to a plaintiff, and causation, the action should proceed. 
See e.g. Epps v. Watson, 492 F.3d 1240 (11th Cir. 2007) 
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(ruling that trial court did not err when it inferred from 
the facts in her complaint that the plaintiff suffered a 
constitutional violation). Holding that there has been 
an antitrust violation-but that such violation has been 
visited upon a third party-is an improper inference. See 
e.g. Trollinger v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 370 F.3d 602, 616 
(6th Cir. 2004) (ruling that trial court erred in dismissing 
employees' claims although there was evidence that the 
union also suffered an injury). In this case, both Feldman 
and Baltic were injured directly-and Feldman profoundly 
and permanently-by the Respondents' conduct. Facing 
two potential victims-an individual and a non-party 
corporation~the Appellate Court erred by favoring the 
non-party over the plaintiff. !d. In so doing it watered the 
enforcement powers of the antitrust laws. 

B. There is a split between the circuits as to whether 
an employee has antitrust standing to pursue a 
collateral injury. 

Both statutory law and administrative antitrust 
regulations do not favor corporations over individuals. For 
instance, in actions brought by the Antitrust Division of the 
U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ Antitrust Division"), 
th~ A ntitnmt Procedures and Penalties ~A~ct ("} .. PP.LA..'') 
requires that the Division prepare a "competitive impact 
statement" that outlines the reasons why the settlement is 
in the public interest. 15 U.S.C. § 16(b) (2017). According to 
the departmental regulations, the statement " .. .is directed 
to the public, as well as to the court, [and] it should be 
written in a narrative style that avoids technical jargon." 
U.S. Department of Justice Antitrust Division, ANTITRUST 
DIVISION MANUAL, at IV-51 (5th ed. 2015), available online 
at https://www.justice.gov/atr/file/761166/download. Any 
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settlement agreement must be submitted to the trial 
court for approval, which must consider the impact upon 
individuals when determining whether the settlement is in 
the public interest. 15 U.S.C. §16(e)(1)(B) (2017). There is 
no language that limits antitrust protections to corporate 
competitors only as opposed to individuals. In applying 
the antitrust statutes, both the government and the courts 
must address the impact on the public at large. 

The Eleventh Circuit acknowledged that individuals 
may have standing to bring claims under antitrust law. 
App. 8a. Yet it ignored this Court's teaching that any 
individual impacted by an antitrust conspiracy may have 
standing. Moreover, an individual need not be the "target" 
of the antitrust conspiracy in order to have standing. 2 

In Blue Shield ofVa. v. McCready, 457 U.S. 465 (1982), 
the plaintiff argued that a private .insurer's policy of 
not reimbursing treatment from clinical psychologists 
constituted an antitrust violation. Id. at 468. While 
individual patients were not the focus of the conspiracy, 
the plaintiff nevertheless had standing: 

[w]e do not think that because the goal of the 
conspirators was to halt encroachment by 
psychologists into a market that physicians and 
psychiatrists sought to preserve for themselves, 
[plaintiff's] injury is rendered 'remote ... 'The 
harm to [plaintiff] and her class was clearly 
foreseeable; indeed, it was a necessary step 
in effecting the ends of the alleged illegal 
conspiracy. Where the injury alleged is so 

2. Here, Feldman was the principal target. CA JA Tab 29 ~~ 
192-5, 210-1, 244. 
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integral an aspect of the conspiracy alleged, 
there can be no question but that the loss was 
precisely 'the type of loss that the claimed 
violations ... would be likely to cause.' 

!d. at478-9. This Court declared its reluctance to set limits 
on who may bring an antitrust claim. ld. at 472 (quoting 
Reiter v. Sonotone Corp., 442 U.S. 330, 337 (1979)). 
Weighing facts rather than reviewing the Complaint, 
the Eleventh Circuit wrongly determined that Baltic, 
rather than Feldman, was the conspiracy's target. App. 
9a. It further ruled that because he was not a focus of the 
conspiracy, Feldman lacked standing. Id. Per Supreme 
Court precedent and the plain wording of the statute, 3 an 
antitrust plaintiff only need be injured as the foreseeable 
consequence of the action. Blue Shield ofVa., 457 U.S. at 
478-9 (quoting Reiter, 442 U.S. at 337). 

The fact that Feldman is not a customer or competitor 
of ADI is not an impediment to antitrust standing. See e.g. 
Sullivan v. Tagliabue, 25 F. 3d 43, 49 (1st Cir. 1994) ("[t]he 
circuits are split, however, over the question of whether a 
plaintiff must be either a consumer or competitor in the 
market harmed by the antitrust violation at issue in order 

3. The language of the Clayton Anti-Trust Act does not impose 
any limitations on standing. It states that " ... any person who shall be 
injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden 
in the antitrust.. .. " may bring a civil action against the antitrust 
violator. 15 U.S.C. § 15(a) (2017). The statute also states that "[a]ny 
person, firm, corporation, or association shall be entitled to sue for 
and have injunctive relief...against threatened loss or damage by 
a violation of the antitrust laws .... " 15 U.S.C. § 26 (2017). A ruling 
that Feldman has standing is in closer alignment with the inclusive 
language imposed by Congress. 
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to establish antitrust injury"'). At minimum, the Eleventh 
Circuit appeared to accept that a party other than a 
customer or a competitor may have standing. 4 See App. 
9a (" ... antitrust law recognizes instances where a non
market participant has antitrust standing to challenge a 
conspiracy"). 

Nevertheless, even though it acknowledged that non
participants in the market may have antitrust standing, 
the Eleventh Circuit found that, as a Baltic employee, 
Feldman lacked standing to bring an antitrust claim. 5 I d. 
It reached this decision notwithstanding the fact that both 
Feldman and Baltic were targets of the anticompetitive 
action. This Court long has held that employment 
blacklisting-such as is the case here-runs afoul of the 
antitrust laws. Radovich, 352 U.S. at 453-4 (1957) (ruling 
that professional football player who was blacklisted from 

4. As a salesman in the commercial linen industry, Feldman was 
a competitor to Respondents. At least one appellate court has held 
that any market participant may be characterized as a competitor. 
See e.g. Amarel v. Connell, 102 F.3d 1494, 1509 (9th Cir. 1996) ("[d] 
efendants also oppose plaintiffs' standing because, they assert, 
plaintiffs 'are neither consumers nor competitors in the market 
claimed to have been affected by the allegedly depressed prices' ... 
Because plaintiffs thus participate in the market for milled rice, 
defendants' alleged predatory pricing, if true, caused them a direct 
monetary loss"). 

5. The conclusion that Feldman was not a primary target of the 
antitrust conspiracy is further undermined by the fact that Baltic 
was not pushed out of the industry. Baltic's discharge of Feldman was 
foreseeable. He was banished from the market and bore the sharp end 
of the appellees' actions. Plainly, Feldman was the primary target of 
the conspiracy. CAJA Tab 29 ~11! 192-5,210-1,244. He just happened 
to find employment at Baltic. If he had landed at another company in 
the industry, he would have been frozen out while he worked there. 
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employment had a potential antitrust claim). In its opinion, 
the Eleventh Circuit held that "lost employment" may not 
give rise to an antitrust violation. App. lOa. Its stance 
is in contradiction to cases from other circuits. See e.g. 
Eichorn. 248 F.3d at 140-1 ("[w]hile employees who are 
precluded from selling their labor have not necessarily 
suffered an antitrust injury, 'employees may challenge 
antitrust violations that are premised on restraining the 
employment market"'); Roman v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 55 
F. 3d 542, 544 (IQth Cir. 1995) ("[t]he relevant cases hold that 
plaintiffs whose opportunities in the employment market 
have been impaired by an anticompetitive agreement 
directed at them as a particular segment of employees 
have suffered an antitrust injury under the governing 
standard"). 

The Third Circuit ruled that a restriction placed on 
a plaintiff's ability to engage in his profession gives rise 
to a cognizable antitrust injury. See Brader v. Allegheny 
Gen. Hasp., 64 F.3d 869, 877 (3d Cir. 1995) ("[plainitff's] 
pleading requirement on this issue is satisfied by his 
allegation that the defendants unreasonably restricted 
his ability to practice ... thereby 'successfully reduced 
competition' for the defendants' services. We therefore 
reject defendanb:;' argument regarding the adequacy of 
[plaintiff's] pleading of an 'antitrust injury' and decline 
to affirm the dismissal of his claim on this ground at this 
stage of the litigation"). Banning Feldman from doing 
business with ALSCO eliminated him from practicing 
his specialized trade. 6 App. 26a. This is a valid antitrust 
injury. Eichorn, 248 F. 3d at 140-1; Brader, 64 F.3d at 877; 
Roman, 55 F.3d at 544. 

6. For many years, Feldman's work had been tailored to a 
limited, sophisticated market and particularly to ALSCO, its unique 
and largest buyer. App. 21a-22a; CA JA Tab 29 at ~~ 15-9. 
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In dismissing this case, the Eleventh Circuit relied on 
Nat'l Indep. Theatre Exhibitors v. Buena Vista Distrib. 
Co., which held that "[n]either an officer nor an employee 
of a corporation has standing to bring an action in his 
own right for an antitrust violation causing injury to 
the corporation and its business." Nat'l Indep. Theater 
Exhibitors, 748 F.2d at 608. This interpretation conflicts 
with law from other circuits. See e.g. Eichorn, 248 F. 3d at 
140-1 ("[w]hile employees who are precluded from selling 
their labor have not necessarily suffered an antitrust 
injury, 'employees may challenge antitrust violations that 
are premised on restraining the employment market"'); 
Tugboat, Inc. v. Mobile Towing, Co., 534 F.2d 1172,1177-8 
(5th Cir. 1976) ("[w]e ... do conclude that the employees in this 
case have standing, not because they suffered injuries as 
a result of their employer being victimized by violations of 
the antitrust laws, but because the conspiracy in this case 
was aimed at the employees as much as it was aimed at the 
employer"); Nichols v. Spencer Int'l Press, 371 F.2d 332, 
334-5 (7th Cir. 1967) (" ... we readily conclude that one who 
has been damaged by loss of employment as a result of a 
violation of the antitrust laws is 'injured in his business or 
property' and thus entitled to recovery under [15 U.S. C. 
§ 15]"); Donahue v. Pendelton Woolen Mills, Inc., 633 
F.Supp. 1423, 1435 (S.D.N.Y. 1986) ("[p]laintiffs here allege 
loss of employment and commissions, damage to their 
professional reputations, and resulting emotional distress. 
None of those alleged injuries overlap with the economic 
injuries that would have been suffered by discount houses 
also victimized by the resale price agreements plaintiffs 
allege. Similarly, plaintiffs' purported losses do not 
duplicate consumer losses resulting from the higher prices 
that may ultimately have been paid for ... consequence of 
defendant's price maintenance scheme"). 
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Feldman respectfully submits that, had his case been 
heard in another circuit, the court would have concluded 
that he had standing. To illustrate, in Bravman v. Bassett 
Furniture Indus.; Inc., 552 F.2d 90 (3d Cir. 1977), the 
plaintiff was a sales representative under contract with 
the defendant manufacturer. !d. at 91. After learning that 
he was selling goods produced by other manufacturers, 
the defendant terminated its relationship with the 
plaintiff. !d. at 92. Bringing a claim under the Clayton 
Act against the manufacturers, the plaintiff alleged that 
" ... the defendants enforced the illegal restraints upon 
[plaintiff], and other sales representatives by threats of 
termination of their sales representative relationships, 
and that when defendants learned that [plaintiff] was 
representing certain other furniture manufacturers, the 
defendants terminated their relationship with [plaintiff] 
in furtherance of the conspiracy." !d. at 95. Reversing 
the district court's conclusion that the plaintiff lacked 
standing, the Third Circuit found: 

[plaintiff] was a direct competitor of the 
manufacturers' representatives who sold for 
[defendant]. Surely [plaintiff] must be viewed 
during this period as a competitor within the so
called 'target area' of the conspiracy. He '.vas a 
party at whom the alleged restraints are directly 
aimed and who operates within 'that area of the 
economy which is endangered by a breakdown 
of competitive conditions.' Though the alleged 
restraints were obviously aimed at enhancing 
the competitive position of [defendant] vis-a-vis 
other furniture manufacturers they were also 
aimed at enhancing the competitive position of 
[defendant's] sales representatives ... [Plaintiff] 
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would seem to meet not only the 'target area' 
test but also the 'competitors only' standard 
asserted by defendants. Without basing 
our decision solely on any one of the above 
observations we find that [plaintiff's] allegations 
when viewed in their totality are sufficient to 
confer standing under § 4. 

ld. at 100. Likewise, in Dailey v. Quality School Plan, 
Inc., 380 F.2d 484 (5th Cir. 1967), the plaintiff alleged that 
he lost his sales position as a result of the defendants' 
conspiracy to restrain trade in the publishing industry. 
ld. at 485. The district court dismissed the plaintiff's 
claim on the basis that he lacked standing. ld. at 486. 
On appeal, the Fifth Circuit reversed, holding that " ... 
commission sales agent cases where a territory has been 
developed and where the courts treat the relationship 
as the business of the salesman or sales manager are to 
be distinguished from those cases where the business or 
property is that of the corporation and the claim asserted 
by stockholders or creditors or employees is derivative." 
I d. at 487 (collecting cases). 

In this pending case, Feldman cultivated his business 
relationship with ALSCO, and he became known within 
ADI as an advocate for ALSCO's interests. After his 
severance from ADI, Feldman became a competitor of ADI 
for ALSCO business. Under these circumstances circuits 
other than the Eleventh Circuit would have concluded that 
he had standing to bring an antitrust claim. Bravman, 
552 F.2d at 100; Dailey, 380 F.2d at 487. 

At the heart of questions regarding antitrust standing 
is the issue of competition within the marketplace. See e.g. 
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Gulf States Reorg. Corp. v. Nucor Corp., 466 F.3d 961, 
967-8 (11th Cir. 2006). In order to preserve competition, 
antitrust standing requirements should be flexible. See e.g. 
Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors of PSA, Inc., 
437 F.3d at 1153 (quoting Perma Life Mufflers, Inc .. , 392 
U.S. at 138-9) ("[t]he [Supreme] Court cautioned against 
'invoking broad common-law barriers to relief where a 
private suit serves important public purposes,' and in the 
antitrust context, the Court explained that there is an 
'overriding public policy in favor of competition"'). Other 
aspects of private antitrust actions-such as the possibility 
of treble damages and/or injunctive relief-also serve to 
further the general goal of promoting competition. See 
e.g. Borden Co., 347 U.S. at 518. 

Here, Respondents barred Feldman's access to 
ALSCO in order to preserve ADI's market dominance. 
Put bluntly, the effective blackballing of Feldman from the 
industry was an essential element of Respondents' scheme 
of neutralizing meaningful competition to AD I. His injury 
is one that the antitrust laws were designed to prevent: 

[a]lthough an employee .. .is neither a consumer 
nor a competitor with respect to targeted goods 
or ~ervices 7 an emplo~yee resembles a consumer 
because he participates in the relevant market 
insofar as his cooperation or noncooperation 
with an illegal scheme affects that market. By 
cooperating with such a plan, an employee helps 
to effectuate a restraint on the market for his 
employer's goods; by refusing to cooperate, 
however, the same employee can thwart the 
scheme. Furthermore, to the extent that the 
employee alleges a post-discharge boycott of his 
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services among all the employer-conspirators, 
the boycott affects the market for an employee's 
services. The shunned employee is a crucial 
participant in this market and is clearly injured 
by a boycott. 

Note, Employee Standing Under Section 4 of the Clayton 
Act, 81 MrcH. L. REv. 1846, 1861 (1983). Circuits other than 
the Eleventh Circuit have acknowledged that a terminated 
employee may have standing when " ... his discharge was 
a necessary means to achieve the conspirators' illegal 
end as well as an integral and inextricable part of the 
anticompetitive scheme." Vinci v. Waste Mgmt., Inc., 80 
F.3d 1372, 1376 (9th Cir. 1996) (quoting Ostrofe v. H.S. 
Crocker Co., 740 F.2d 739, 745-6 (9th Cir. 1984)).7 The 
Eleventh Circuit should have found that, by limiting 
his access to the major buyer in the commercial linen 
industry, Respondents' actions both served to further 
their anticompetitive goals and to harm Feldman. Case 
law reflects that he stated a viable claim for an antitrust 
violation. See e.g. Eichorn, 248 F.3d at 140-1; Roman, 55 
F.3d at 544. 

A concerted refusal to hire is contrary to the antitrust 
laws. See e.g. Anderson v. Shipowner's Ass'n of the Pac. 
Coast, 272 U.S. 359, 364-5 (1926) (finding that a restraint 

7. In Ostroje, the Ninth Circuit held that a discharged employee 
suffers an antitrust injury when " ... his discharge was a necessary 
means to achieve the conspirators' illegal end as well as an integral 
and inextricable part of the anticompetitive scheme." Ostroje, 770 
F.2d at 746 (citation omitted). The Eleventh Circuit acknowledged 
that it is in disagreement with the Ninth Circuit on this issue. See 
App. lla (finding that the Ninth Circuit's holding in Ostrofe v. H.S. 
Crocker " ... conflicts with our precedent"). 
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on a ship operator's freedom to transact business 
amounted to an antitrust violation). See also Brian R. 
Henry and Joseph M. Miller, "Sorry, We Can't Hire You ... 
We Promised Not To": The Antitrust Implications of 
Entering Into No-Hire Agreements, 11 ANTITRUST ABA 
39,39 (1996) ("[m]ost courts considering the issue have held 
that employees suffer 'injury' recognized by the antitrust 
laws when their employment opportunities are restricted 
by a no-hire agreement between potential employers, 
and thus have standing to sue the entity imposing such a 
provision"), The Amended Complaint plainly averred that 
Respondents ordered ALSCO purchasers to not transact 
business with Feldman. CA JA Tab 29 ~ 210. This is a 
no-hire agreement. A fact-finder could determine that an 
implied restraint of trade arose that effectively barred 
Feldman from working in the commercial linen industry; 
this restraint is contrary to antitrust law. Anderson, 272 
U.S. at 364-5. 

C. Since Feldman was a direct target of Respondents' 
actions, he suffered an antitrust injury and has 
standing. 

The Eleventh Circuit found that Feldman's injuries 
WP.l"P. mPrPhT r!Pl"lV!:ltlVP of thP inin-..ia" "nf'f'""'"r:J "hn t-"h~n 
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then-employer, Baltic. App. lOa. In doing so, it embraced 
the position that employee standing in antitrust suits is 
disfavored. However, such a conclusion does not conform 
to this Court's prior decisions on the nature of antitrust 
injury. In Brunswick Corp., Inc. v. Pueblo Bowl-0-Mat, 
Inc., 429 U.S. 477 (1977), this Court ruled that an antitrust 
injury " ... should reflect the anticompetitive effect either 
of the violation or of anticompetitive acts made possible 
by the violation." I d. at 489. 
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Subsequent holdings of this Court suggest that if an 
antitcompetitive act is expressly targeted at an individual, 
then that individual has standing. In Assoc. Gen. Contrs. 
v. Cal. State Council of Carpenters, 459 U.S. 519 (1983), 
the plaintiff union claimed that the defendant contractors 
were interfering with the terms of a collective-bargaining 
relationship that governed the employment terms and 
conditions of the union members. !d. at 521. Although the 
district court found that the allegations in to be a vague 
labor dispute that should have been adjudicated by the 
National Labor Relations Board, the Ninth Circuit ruled 
that the plaintiff union suffered a cognizable antitrust 
injury. Id. at 524-5. This Court found that a restraint 
against the third-party members did not give rise to an 
injury realized by the plaintiff union. However, this Court 
ruled that 

[i]f either these firms, or the immediate victims 
of coercion by defendants, have been injured by 
an antitrust violation, their injuries would be 
direct and ... they would have a right to maintain 
their own treble-damages actions against the 
defendants. An action on their behalf would 
encounter none of the conceptual difficulties that 
encumber the Union's claim. The existence of an 
identifiable class of persons whose self-interest 
would normally motivate them to vindicate 
the public interest in antitrust enforcement 
diminishes the justification for allowing a more 
remote party such as the Union to perform the 
office of a private attorney general. Denying the 
Union a remedy on the basis of its allegations 
in this case is not likely to leave a significant 
antitrust violation undetected or unremedied. 
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Id. at 541. While this Court held that the plaintiff 
union lacked standing, the opinion suggests that the 
individual union members may have standing in that their 
employment prospects were hindered. I d. 

Here, the Eleventh Circuit ruled that whether 
Respondents targeted Feldman was "beside the point." 
App. lOa. In contrast, this Court has held that if the injury 
to the plaintiff was a "necessary step" in effectuating 
the anti-competitive plan, then the plaintiff has antitrust 
standing. See Blue Shield ofVa., 457 U.S. at 479 (quoting 
Brunswick Corp., 429 U.S. at 489) ("[w]here the injury 
alleged is so integral an aspect of the conspiracy alleged, 
there can be no question but that the loss was precisely 
'the type of loss that the claimed violations ... would be 
likely to cause"'). Under certain circumstances, refusals 
to deal may constitute an antitrust violation. See NW. 
Wholesale Stationers, Inc. v. Pac. Stationary & Printing 
Co., 472 U.S. 284, 294 (1985) ("[c]ases to which this 
Court has applied the per se approach have generally 
involved joint efforts by a firm or firms to disadvantage 
competitors by 'either directly denying or persuading or 
coercing suppliers or customers to deny relationships the 
competitors need in the competitive struggle"') (internal 
citations omittecl). Respondents' refusal to deal ;vith 
Feldman equated with the clear anti-competitive goals of 
AD I. This Court has counseled that a refusal to deal must 
be "evaluated in context." Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. 
Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 587 (1986). 

Respondents argued that their blackballing of 
Feldman did not render this a refusal to deal case. In 
support, they suggested, without citation to any authority 
or evidence, that ADI did not constitute a monopoly. It 
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is well settled that when " ... a firm has been 'attempting 
to exclude rivals on some basis other than efficiency,' it 
is fair to characterize its behavior as predatory." Aspen 
Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp., 472 U.S. 
585, 605 (1985). As averred in the Amended Complaint, 
AD I engaged in monopolistic conduct with respect to its 
rival producers. See e.g. CA JA Tab 29 ~ 39. ADI's conduct 
may qualify it as a monopolist. 8 See Aspen Skiing Co., 4 72 
U.S. at 602 n.28 (quoting United States v. Aluminum 
Co. of Am., 148 F.2d 416, 432 (2d Cir. 1945)). Appellate 
courts have found that a monopolist's refusal to deal 
with a specific individual or entity may give rise to an 
antitrust violation. Dimidowich v. Bell & Howell, 803 F.2d 
1473, 1478 (9th Cir. 1986) (" ... there is a line of cases that 
supports the proposition that a manufacturer may form 
a 'conspiracy' or 'combination' under the antitrust laws 
if it imposes restraints on dealers ... coercive conduct and 

8. During the time relevant to this action, ADI became one of 
the dominant manufacturers-if not the dominant manufacturer-of 
commercial linens. It, along with its putative competitor Venus, had 
the power to determine the price for linen products. It also had the 
apparent power to allocate customers. App. 2la. 

A "monopolist" is a firm with a long term ability to influence 
product price and exclude competitors. See Federal Trade 
Commission, Guide to Antitrust Laws, at https://www.ftc.gov/ 
tips-advice/competition-guidance/guide-antitrust-laws/single-firm
conduct/monopolization-defined (last visited Jul. 28, 2017) ("[c]ourts 
do not require a literal monopoly before applying rules for single firm 
conduct; that term is used as shorthand for a firm with significant 
and durable market power-that is, the long term ability to raise 
price or exclude competitors. That is how that term is used here: a 
'monopolist' is a firm with significant and durable market power"). 
Therefore, because it had the power to determine price and exclude 
competition, ADI qualifies as a monopolist. Id. 
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they involuntarily adhere to those restraints"); Paschall 
v. Kan. City Star Co., 727 F.2d 692, 704 (8th Cir. 1984) 
(even though it found that the plaintiff distributor lacked 
standing, the court found that " ... a monopolist may be 
subject to antitrust liability if it misuses its monopoly 
power to accomplish a vertical integration and a refusal to 
deal that results in unreasonable anticompetitive effects. 
Each case must be resolved on its own particular facts"); 
Byars v. Bluff City News, 609 F.2d 843, 863 (6th Cir. 1979) 
(finding that regional wholesaler's refusal to deal with its 
former distributor may have given rise to an antitrust 
violation); Osborn v. Sinclair Refining Co., 324 F.2d 566, 
571 (4th Cir. 1964). 

The parties do not dispute that Feldman, prior to his 
termination, was a leading salesman in the small lucrative 
and specialized field. In light of the fact that his position 
as a sales representative is akin to being a distributor, 
other federal courts would have found that he suffered an 
antitrust injury. 1-1 ANTITRUST LAW DEVELOPMENTS 1D(5) 
(2017) ("[c]ourts have found an anticompetitive purpose 
when a refusal to deal harms, or is intended to harm, 
competition at the manufacturing level by weakening 
one of a relatively few distributors able to handle the 
productR of competing manufacturers"). To the extent to 
which Respondents' refusal to deal was geared to secure 
ADI's market dominance, the subsequent blackballing 
of Feldman violated antitrust law. Aspen Skiing Co., 472 
U.S. at 605. 
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D. The pleadings set forth by Feldman give rise to an 
inference of antitrust violation and oligopolistic 
business practices. 

In its opinion, the Eleventh Circuit rejected Feldman's 
argument that the bar to his participation in the labor 
market constituted an antitrust injury. App. 9a ("[t]hat one 
laborer suffered injury does not convert the conspiracy 
into one aimed at restraining competition in the labor 
market"). However, in other contexts, this Court has found 
that injury to one market participant has reverberations 
across the market as a whole. This was the conclusion in 
Summit Health v. Pinas, 500 U.S. 322 (1991). In Summit 
Health, an ophthalmologist alleged that his removal 
from the defendant hospital's medical staff implicated 
interstate commerce for the purposes of an antitrust 
claim under the Sherman Act. !d. at 324. The defendant 
hospital successfully moved to dismiss on the grounds 
that the complaint failed to aver sufficient facts tying 
the removal to interstate commerce. The Ninth Circuit 
reversed because, "as a matter of practical economics," 
the plaintiff's removal from the medical staff implicated 
interstate commerce. !d. at 328. 

Ultimately, this Court concluded that the appellate 
court's analysis was correct. The hospital argued that an 
antitrust violation that effected a single surgeon would 
any no substantial effect on interstate commerce. Id. at 
330. This Court rejected this position, finding that 

[t]here are two flaws in petitioners' argument. 
First, because the essence of any violation of 
§ 1 is the illegal agreement itself-rather than 
the overt acts performed in furtherance of 
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it-proper analysis focuses, not upon actual 
consequences, but rather upon the potential 
harm that would ensue if the conspiracy were 
successful...Thus, respondent need not allege, or 
prove, an actual effect on interstate commerce 
to support federal jurisdiction ... Second, if 
the conspiracy alleged in the complaint is 
successful, 'as a matter of practical economics' 
there will be a reduction in the provision of 
ophthalmological services ... In cases involving 
horizontal agreements to fix prices or allocate 
territories within a single State, we have based 
jurisdiction on a general conclusion that the 
defendants' agreement 'almost surely' had a 
marketwide impact and therefore an effect on 
interstate commerce .... 

!d. at 330-1 (internal citations omitted). The opinion went 
on to explain that 

[t]o establish the jurisdictional element of a 
Sherman Act violation it would be sufficient 
for petitioners to demonstrate a substantial 
effect on interstate commerce generated by 
reRpontients' brokerage activity. Petitioners 
need not make the more particularized showing 
of an effect on interstate commerce caused 
by the alleged conspiracy to fix commission 
rates, or by those other aspects of respondents' 
activity that are alleged to be unlawful. 

!d. at 331 (quoting McLain v. Real Estate Bd. of New 
Orleans, Inc., 444 U.S. 232, 246 (1980)). Although the case 
did not touch upon the question of standing, the central 
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precept of Summit Health was that if the facts set forth in 
the complaint give rise to a presumption that an element 
of the alleged antitrust violation is present, then the 
complaint should survive a motion to dismiss. 

Lower federal courts have taken the broad 
presumptions endorsed by this Court in Summit Health 
and have applied them to elements of antitrust standing. 
See e.g. Amarel, 102 F. 3d at 1508; (finding the complaint 
adequately pled an antitrust injury where " .. [p]laintiffs' 
complaint contained broad, albeit sometimes vague, 
allegations of a decades-long conspiracy to eliminate ... 
plaintiffs [from the rice production industry] ... "); Hammes 
v. AAMCO Transmissions, 33 F.3d 774, 782-3 (7th Cir. 
1994) (sustaining antitrust complaint that did not set 
forth elements of antitrust injury in detail). Such decisions 
are consistent with this Court's conclusion that, to 
establish liability in an antitrust action, " .. .liability may 
be established by proof of either an unlawful purpose or 
an anticompetitive effect." McLain, 444 U.S. at 243. 

The opinion in Summit Health illustrates this 
Court's jurisprudence that antitrust complaints need not 
be detailed to defeat a motion to dismiss. See Bell Atl. 
Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). However, 
the Eleventh Circuit appeared to sustain the dismissal of 
Feldman's Complaint on the grounds that he failed to set 
forth specific elements of his claim in detail. To wit, the 
panel found that Feldman failed to set forth the requisite 
elements of a restraint in the labor market, even though 
the Amended Complaint made clear that Respondents 
acted to bar him from soliciting business from the 
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dominant purchaser in his industry. 9 See App. 9a. While 
the Eleventh Circuit faulted Feldman for not expressly 
pleading a restraint in the labor market, notwithstanding 
the fact that he implied such a restraint, this Court has 
ruled that factual inferences in a complaint must be 
gleaned from the complaint as a whole. See e.g. Tellabs, 
Inc. v. Makar Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 325-6 
(2007) (" ... allegations must be considered collectively; 
the significance that can be ascribed to an allegation of 
motive, or lack thereof, depends on the entirety of the 
complaint .. .In sum, the reviewing court must ask: When 
the allegations are accepted as true and taken collectively, 
would a reasonable person deem the inference of scienter 
at least as strong as any opposing inference?").1° Feldman 

9. Circuits other than the Eleventh Circuit have not required 
that an individual plead injury to a separate labor market in order 
to have antitrust standing; rather, "[t]he requirement that the 
alleged injury be related to anti-competitive behavior requires, as a 
corollary, that the injured party be a participant in the same market 
as the alleged malefactors." Vinci, 80 F.3d at 1376 (quoting Bhan v. 
NME Hasps., Inc., 772 F.2d 1467, 1470 (91h Cir. 1985)). Feldman was 
targeted in the conspiracy. There was no need to plead any separate 
labor market. Tugboat, Inc., 534 F.2d at 1177. 

10. The Eleventh Circuit's conclusion that Feldman failed to 
plead a restraint in the labor market is grounded in an impermissible 
construction of the underlying Amended Complaint. This Court 
has held that " ... the court's job is not to scrutinize each allegation 
in isolation but to assess all the allegations holistically." Tellabs, 
Inc., 551 U.S. at 326. The appellate courts have interpreted this as 
a directive to determine whether the collective allegations in the 
complaint "combine" to support an element of a claim. See e.g. Nat'l 
Elevator Indus. Pension Fund v. VeriFone Holdings, Inc., 704 F. 3d 
694, 702 (91h Cir. 2012) (quoting Zucco Partners, LLC v. Digimark 
Corp., 552 F. 3d 981, 992 (91h Cir. 2009)). An antitrust plaintiff need 
not plead "magic words" to survive a motion to dismiss. Creative 
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submits that the pleadings support an factual inference 
that the there was a constructive "no hire" agreement 
between the relevant players.11 !d. 

Copier Servs. v. Xerox Corp., 344 F.Supp.2d 858, 866 (D. Conn. 2004) 
(construing Verizon Comm., Inc. v. Law Offices of Curtis V. Trinko, 
LLP, 540 U.S. 398 (2004)). 

11. The flawed foundation of the Eleventh Circuit's conclusion is 
that Feldman failed to prove an antitrust market for labor, which is 
not his burden. It did not take into account the wider factual context 
set forth in the Amended Complaint. It avers that the commercial 
linen industry is fundamentally oligopolistic: it is dominated by a 
handful of suppliers and one dominant purchaser, ALSCO. A fact
finder could conclude that the relevant market for labor is likewise 
constrained. Both ADI and ALSCO are purchasers oflabor, and both 
can combine to eliminate employment at a third company. Therefore, 
the fact that Feldman was blackballed from working in the industry 
meant that no one would purchase his labor. 

Read broadly, as it must be under FED. R. Crv. PRoc. 12(b)(6), 
the Amended Complaint shows that ADI attempted to control the 
labor market. In fact, Feldman was told that he was denied severance 
by ADI because he went to work for a competitor. App. 24a. Baltic 
likewise was warned by Rasband that it would not get ALSCO's 
business while Feldman worked there. App. 25a. The Amended 
Complaint showed that the Appellees' actions harmed the small 
sales professionals' labor market. Further, the Amended Complaint 
reflects the presence of a no-hire agreement. Such agreements 
clearly are contrary to antitrust law. Eichorn, 248 F.3d at 142 (3d 
Cir. 2001) (citing Roman, 55 F.3d at 545) ("[b]ecause the no-hire 
agreement directly impeded plaintiffs' ability to sell their labor to at 
least three companies within the competitive market and effectively 
cancelled their [] pension benefits, we believe they have standing 
to litigate their [antitrust] claims"). The no-hire agreement here 
prevented Feldman from working in this small relevant market. 
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Furthermore, contrary to the Eleventh Circuit's 
reasoning, other circuits have found that oligopolistic 
behavior is sufficient to give rise to an inference of 
antitrust violations. In Todd v. Exxon Corp., 275 F. 3d 191 
(2d Cir. 2001), the plaintiff alleged that a data sharing 
arrangement set up by companies in the oil and gas 
industry violated the Sherman Act. Id. at 196-7. The 
district court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss, 
finding that plaintiff failed to plead a plausible product 
market for labor. Id. at 197. Reversing on appeal, the 
Second Circuit ruled that the defendant's ability to 
control competition was a key consideration in defining 
the relevant market. !d. at 206 ("[i]f a plaintiff can show 
that a defendant's conduct exerted an actual adverse effect 
on competition, this is a strong indicator of market power. 
In fact, this arguably is more direct evidence of market 
power than calculations of elusive market share figures"). 
The court went on to find that "[g]enerally speaking, the 
possibility of anticompetitive collusive practices is most 
realistic in concentrated industries." !d. at 208. 

Even prior to discovery, Feldman was able to present 
documents in support of averments in his Amended 
Complaint that ADI was in contact with a competitor, 
"'I"T,....n11n "lll"O'~'Pilincr nl"iflo flvi-ntv ;.., 1-'hn ruyvv'IVV"'r\"'H~.:n 1 1.:._,..,.._ yt; ___ .. ~, .!t;b ......... -. .................. 0 .1"'""' ... '-''--' .&...t.. .. a .. .LJ..10 J.J..I. \Ji..l.\,.,.. \...VJ.11111V.1\...1Q..1 .1l!l.t11 

market. This pleading provides that these two firms-AD I 
and Venus12-divided the market in sales to ALSCO, the 
industry's dominant buyer. A fact-finder could infer that 
the industry is fundamentally oligopolistic. This factual 
conclusion is supported by the ample exhibits appended 
to the Amended Complaint. CA JA Tab 29-1. However, 

12. Venus, however, sold less to ALSCO than did ADI. CA JA 
Tab 291130. 
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the Appellate Court did not consider the documentation 
offered by Feldman in support of his claims. At the FED. R. 
Civ. PRoc. 12(b)(6) stage, the focus is on whether a plaintiff 
" ... has pleaded enough factual content to 'nudge[] [his] 
claims across the line from conceivable to plausible."' Bell 
Atl. Corp., 550 U.S. at 570 (2007). Evidence that a market 
is olgoloplistic is sufficient to support an inference that 
the antitrust laws were violated. Todd, 275 F.3d at 208. 
More fundamental, though, is the fact of ADI's power to 
divide the market for sales to the dominant commercial 
linen purchaser. This Court has defined "monopoly power" 
as "the power to control prices or exclude competition," 
finding that "[t]he existence of such power ordinarily may 
be inferred from the predominant share of the market." 
United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563,571 (1966) 
(quoting United States v. duPont & Co., 351 U.S. 377, 
391 (1956)). ADI's dominance in sales-coupled with its 
lucrative ongoing connection to the dominant purchaser, 
ALSCO-illustrates monopoly power. See e.g. Eastman 
Kodak Co. v. Image Tech. Serv., 504 U.S. 451,481 (1992) 
(evidence that company controlled one hundred per cent 
of the product market and between eight and ninety five 
percent of the service market was indicative of monopoly 
power); Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. at 572 (quoting duPont 
& Co., 351 U.S. at 391). 

The pleadings in this case illustrate that ALSCO was 
the dominant purchaser of commercial linens in North 
America. A conspiracy among rival providers violates 
federal antitrust law. See Discon, Inc. v. NYNEX Corp., 
No. 95-7673, 1996 U.S. App. LEXIS 28747, at *10-*11 (2d 
Cir. Aug. 26, 1996) (citing E. Thomas Sullivan & Jeffrey 
L. Harrison, UNDERSTANDING ANTITRUST AND ITS EcoNOMIC 
IMPLICATIONS, § 4.13 at 110 (2d ed. 1994)) (characterizing a 
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conspiracy between two providers of "telephone removal 
services" to exclude a third provider from transacting 
business with the dominant telephone company as a 
"classic horizontal restraint of trade"). If Feldman waR 
barred from trading with the dominant commercial 
linen purchaser, ALSCO, he was barred from entering 
into this market. Indeed, due to Respondents' actions, 
Feldman's sales plummeted. The sharp decline in sales 
is evidence of monopolistic activity and antitrust injury. 
See e.g. Roger D. Blair & William H. Page, "Speculative" 
Antitrust Damages, 70 WASH. L. REv. 423,441 (1995) ("[w] 
hen the plaintiff is alleging that the defendant wrongfully 
terminated it as a dealer, a decline in sales immediately 
following the termination may be enough to show the 
fact of injury"). Feldman suffered demonstrable harm as 
a result of being frozen out from sales to the dominant 
purchase in his industry. 
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CONCLUSION 

Feldman was the obvious victim of a concerted effort 
on the part of Respondents to exclude him from the labor 
market. The Eleventh Circuit erred when it found that he 
did not suffer an antitrust injury. Other Circuits (Eichorn, 
248 F.3d at 140-1; Ostrofe, 770 F.2d at 746; Tugboat, Inc., 
534 F.2d at 1177-8; Nichols, 371 F.2d at 334-5; Donahue, 
633 F.Supp. at 1435) would have decided otherwise. If 
left to stand, the Eleventh Circuit decision will hinder 
antitrust enforcement and be used as a basis for federal 
courts to deny claims by individuals. Therefore, it is 
respectfully submitted that the Supreme Court should 
grant this Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. 

July 31, 2017 
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JAMEs BRANDON LIEBER, EsQ. 
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APPENDIX A- OPINION OF THE UNITED 
STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE 

ELEVENTH CIRCUIT, FILED MARCH 3, 2017 

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

No. 16-11663 

ANDREW FELDMAN, 

Plaintiff Appellant, 

v 

AMERICAN DAWN, INC., VYTO TOZER, 
PAUL RASBAND, 

Defendants-Appellees. 

Appeals from the United States District Court 
for the Northern District of Georgia. 
D.C. Docket No. 1:14-cv-03006-LMM 

March 3, 2017, Decided 

Before WILLIAM PRYOR, JORDAN, and BALDOCK, * 
Circuit Judges. 

WILLIAM PRYOR, Circuit Judge: 

'Honorable Bobby R. Baldock, United States Circuit Judge for the 
Tenth Circuit, sitting by designation. 
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The main question presented by this appeal is 
whether an employee has antitrust standing to challenge 
a conspiracy directed at his employer because the alleged 
conspiracy caused the employee's termination. We must 
also decide whether the employee pleaded claims of 
racketeering, tortious interference, civil conspiracy, 
negligent misrepresentation, and fraud. American Dawn, 
Inc., a leading manufacturer of restaurant linens, fired 
Andrew Feldman, a restaurant linen salesman, for 
participating in a fraudulent scheme against ALSCO, a 
company that sells restaurant linens. Feldman later found 
employment with Baltic Linen Company, a competitor of 
American Dawn. After Feldman joined Baltic, Vyto Tozer, 
a sales manager at American Dawn, and Paul Rasband, 
a consultant for ALSCO, allegedly conspired to freeze 
Baltic out of the restaurant linens market. Feldman's job 
at Baltic was collateral damage of the alleged conspiracy, 
and he filed a complaint against American Dawn, Tozer, 
and Rasband that alleges violation of the antitrust laws, 15 
U.S.C. § 1 et seq., and several other civil claims, which the 
district court dismissed. Because Feldman lacks antitrust 
standing to challenge a conspiracy directed at Baltic and 
his complaint fails to state any other claim, we affirm. 

I. BACKGROUND 

According to his complaint, Andrew Feldman worked 
for fourteen years as a regional sales manager for 
American Dawn, Inc., a company that manufactures and 
sells textiles throughout the United States. Feldman was 
a leading salesman to ALSCO, a company that sells linens 
to restaurants, and one of the largest clients of American 
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Dawn. Feldman's primary contact at ALSCO was a 
consultant named Paul Rasband. Feldman's supervisor 
at American Dawn was Vyto Tozer. Tozer and Rasband 
were personal friends. 

American Dawn fired Feldman in 2011 for his 
participation in a deferred billing scheme. Under this 
practice, ALSCO ordered products from American Dawn, 
which shipped the products, and American Dawn billed 
ALSCO for the products at a later date. American Dawn 
used deferred billing to carry over its revenues from 
one fiscal year to the next and to hide its shipment of 
substandard goods to ALSCO. Employees of American 
Dawn deferred the bills of about thirty percent of its 
accounts with ALSCO. An internal audit of ALSCO 
revealed the deferred billing scheme, which prompted 
ALSCO to open an investigation. The investigation 
uncovered an email sent to Feldman about the deferred 
billing of an American Dawn account. When ALSCO 
confronted American Dawn with this evidence, American 
Dawn blamed Feldman and fired him. 

Although Feldman admitted in his complaint that he 
participated in the deferred billing scheme, he alleged that 
American Dawn fired him as "punishment" for another 
questionable practice of employees of American Dawn
the shipment of substandard products to ALSCO. During 
Feldman's time at the company, American Dawn routinely 
substituted inferior goods for the goods that ALSCO 
ordered. To avoid product inspections implemented by 
ALSCO, Tozer directed Feldman and other employees to 
falsify product tests and to alter sales records. Rasband 
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knew that the shipment of substandard products caused 
ALSCO to overpay American Dawn by as much as 
$175,000, but he requested that American Dawn repay less 
than half that amount. Feldman expressed concern about 
these practices to the management of American Dawn. 

After American Dawn fired Feldman, Tozer 
encouraged Feldman to seek severance pay. But 
American Dawn refused to offer Feldman severance. 
Tozer told Feldman that American Dawn refused to 
pay him severance because Feldman accepted a position 
with another company, Baltic, within thirty days of 
his termination. When Feldman raised the issue with 
the owners of American Dawn, he received a different 
response. They told him that they fired him because of 
his participation in the deferred billing scheme: "your 
dishonesty detrimentally impacted [the] relationship [of 
American Dawn] with a valued customer." Feldman never 
received severance from American Dawn. 

Baltic is a competitor of American Dawn. After it 
hired Feldman, Tozer and Rasband conspired to "freeze 
out Baltic ... from sourcing [or] supplying commercial 
textiles to the restaurant linen rental market." Rasband 
told Feldman's supervisors that it was a "big mistake" 
to have hired Feldman and that Feldman "was no longer 
welcome atALSCO, and that no one else from Baltic could 
be used ... to secure ALSCO's business." Tozer told a 
Baltic executive that Feldman "post-dated and re-dated 
bills so that [Feldman] could receive more money" during 
his tenure at American Dawn and that Feldman acted as 
an "unethical-lone-wolf."' Tozer and Rasband made these 
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accusations to ensure that ALSCO remained an American 
Dawn customer "and not to deal with [Feldman] or Baltic." 

In early 2012, Rasband requested bids on behalf of 
ALSCO from linens manufacturers, including Baltic and 
American Dawn. Although Baltic submitted one of the 
lowest bids overall, American Dawn won the contract 
because before it submitted its final bid to ALSCO, 
Rasband informed Tozer of the details of competing bids 
and American Dawn altered its proposal in response. 
In exchange for this information, which American 
Dawn failed to give to Baltic or other companies, Tozer 
gave Rasband gifts "and other personal benefits." The 
conspiracy to freeze Baltic out of the market by refusing to 
deal with Feldman and manipulating the bidding process 
led to Feldman's discharge from Baltic in May 2013. 

Feldman filed a ten-count complaint against American 
Dawn, Rasband, and Tozer in the district court. Against 
all defendants, Feldman alleged violations of the federal 
antitrust laws, 15 U.S.C. § 1 et seq., violations of the 
federal and Georgia Racketeering Influenced and 
Corrupt Organizations acts, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq., 
Ga. Code Ann. § 16-14-1 et seq., and interference with 
business relations Against Rasband and Tozer, Feldman 
alleged a conspiracy to violate the federal and Georgia 
racketeering acts, interference with employment, and civil 
conspiracy. Against American Dawn and Tozer, Feldman 
alleged claims of negligent misrepresentation and fraud. 
American Dawn, Tozer, and Rasband moved to dismiss 
the complaint for failure to state a claim, and the district 
court granted their motions. 
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II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

We review de novo the dismissal of a complaint under 
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) for failure to state 
a claim and construe all the allegations as true. Hughes 
v. Lott, 350 F. 3d 1157, 1159-60 (11th Cir. 2003). A plaintiff 
must plausibly allege all the elements of the claim for relief. 
Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 173 
L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009). Conclusory allegations and legal 
conclusions are not sufficient; the plaintiffs must "state a 
claim to relief that is plausible on its face." Bell Atl. Corp. 
v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 557, 570, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. 
Ed. 2d 929 (2007). For the claims of fraud, "a party must 
state with particularity the circumstances constituting 
fraud or mistake." Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b); see also Lamm v. 
State St. Bank & Trust, 749 F. 3d 938, 951 (11th Cir. 2014) 
(negligent misrepresentation); Am. Dental Ass'n v. Cigna 
Corp., 605 F.3d 1283, 1291 (11th Cir. 2010) (racketeering 
acts). "[A] plaintiff must allege: '(1) the precise statements, 
documents, or misrepresentations made; (2) the time, 
place, and person responsible for the statement; (3) the 
content and manner in which these statements misled the 
[p]laintiff[]; and (4) what the defendant[] gained by the 
alleged fraud."' Am. Dental, 605 F.3d at 1291 (quoting 
Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Fla., Inc., 116 F.3d 
1364, 1380-81 (11th Cir. 1997)). 

III. DISCUSSION 

We divide our discussion in four parts. First, we 
explain that Feldman lacks antitrust standing because he 
did not suffer an antitrust injury. Second, we explain that 
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the complaint fails to allege predicate acts of racketeering 
activity that were the proximate cause of Feldman's 
injury. Third, we explain that Feldman's complaint fails 
to state a claim of tortious interference with business 
relations, tortious interference with employment, or 
civil conspiracy, because American Dawn, Rasband, and 
Tozer were not strangers to the relationship between 
Feldman, Baltic, and ALSCO. Fourth, we explain that 
the complaint fails to state claims of fraud or negligent 
misrepresentation because Tozer's promise of severance 
pay was unenforceable as a contract. 

A. Feldman Suffered No Antitrust Injury. 

In addition to "the basic 'case or controversy' or 
'injury in fact' required by Article III of the Constitution," 
a private plaintiff who seeks damages under the antitrust 
laws, such as Feldman, must establish "antitrust standing." 
Sunbeam Television Corp. v. Nielsen Media Research, 
Inc., 711 F.3d 1264,1270 (11th Cir. 2013). To do so, Feldman 
must allege that he suffered an antitrust injury and that 
he is an "efficient enforcer" of the antitrust laws. I d. at 
1271. An antitrust injury is the kind of injury that "the 
antitrust laws were intended to prevent and that flows 
from [the conduct that] makes [the] acts [of a defendant] 
unlawful." Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-M at, Inc., 
429 U.S. 477, 489, 97 S. Ct. 690, 50 L. Ed. 2d 701 (1977). 

Feldman argues that he has antitrust standing to 
challenge two categories of antitcompetetive conduct: 
conduct targeted at the labor market for Feldman's labor, 
and conduct targeted at the market for restaurant linens. 
Both arguments fail. We address each in turn. 
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Although "employees who are precluded from selling 
their labor have not necessarily suffered an antitrust 
injury, 'employees may challenge antitrust violations that 
are premised on restraining the employment market."' 
Eichorn v. AT & T Corp., 248 F.3d 131, 140-41 (3d Cir. 
2001) (quoting Phillip Areeda & Herbert Hovenkamp, 
Antitrust Law 11 377a (rev. ed. 1995) (footnotes omitted)); 
see also Tugboat, Inc. v. Mobile Towing Co., 534 F.2d 
1172, 1176 (5th Cir. 1976). For example, the Third Circuit 
ruled that former employees had standing to challenge a 
"no-hire agreement" between three telecommunications 
companies, including one company for which the 
employees had worked. Eichorn, 248 F.3d at 141-42. The 
companies agreed not to hire the employees of the other 
companies, and the plaintiffs alleged that this agreement 
was a restraint of the labor market in which they were 
participants. Id. at 141-42. The court explained that the 
employees had standing "[b]ecause the no-hire agreement 
directly impeded plaintiffs' ability to sell their labor to at 
least three companies within the competitive market." I d. 
at 142. The Tenth Circuit reached a similar conclusion. See 
Roman v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 55 F.3d 542, 544-45 (lOth 
Cir. 1995). It ruled that a former employee of Boeing had 
standing to challenge an agreement between Boeing and 
Cessna not to hire employees "away from each other." I d. 
at 543, 545. The court explained that "'[j]ust as antitrust 
law seeks to preserve the free market opportunities of 
buyers and sellers of goods, so also it seeks to do the 
same for buyers and sellers of employment services."' I d. 
at 544 (quoting Areeda & Hovenkamp, supra, at 11 377c 
(footnotes omitted)). 
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Feldman lacks antitrust standing to challenge a 
conspiracy "premised on restraining the employment 
market" for restaurant linen salesmen because he did 
not allege one. Eichorn, 248 F.3d at 141 (quoting Areeda 
& Hovenkamp, supra, at ~ 377a (footnotes omitted)). 
His complaint alleges a conspiracy targeted at Baltic, 
not Feldman, to "freeze out Baltic . . . from sourcing 
[or] supplying commercial textiles to the restaurant 
linen rental market." Feldman's complaint alleges 
no agreements between competing restaurant linens 
producers akin to the agreements that have previously 
provided antitrust standing for a former employee. See 
Eichorn, 248 F.3d at 141-42, Roman, 55 F.3d at 544-45. 

Although Feldman lost his job with Baltic because 
of this alleged conspiracy, his collateral injury does 
not change our conclusion. That one laborer suffered 
injury does not convert the conspiracy into one aimed 
at restraining competition in the labor market. Indeed, 
the conspiracy injured Feldman to harm Baltic and 
competition in the market for restaurant linens, not to 
harm competition in the market for restaurant linens 
salesmen. 

Feldman also argues that he has antitrust standing 
to challenge the conspiracy to restrain competition in the 
restaurant linens market, but that argument runs counter 
to our precedent. Although antitrust law recognizes 
instances where a non-market participant has antitrust 
standing to challenge a conspiracy because his injury is 
"inextricably intertwined with the injury the conspirators 
sought to inflict on ... the ... market," Blue Shield of 
Virginia v. McCready, 457 U.S. 465, 484, 102 S. Ct. 2540, 
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73 L. Ed. 2d 149 (1982), that doctrine does not apply here. 
We have held that "[n]either an officer nor an employee 
of a corporation has standing to bring an action in his 
own right for an antitrust violation causing injury to 
the corporation and its business." Nat'l Indep. Theatre 
Exhibitors, Inc. v. Buena Vista Distrib. Co., 748 F.2d 
602, 608 (11th Cir. 1984). Feldman argues that National 
Independent Theatre Exhibitors is distinguishable · 
because in that case we explained that the "there was no 
evidence that any of the ... alleged behavior was directed 
against [the defendant] individually," id., and Feldman's 
complaint, in contrast, alleges that American Dawn, Tozer, 
and Rasband targeted him individually. But whether 
American Dawn, Tozer, and Rasband targeted Feldman 
is beside the point. Feldman did not suffer an antitrust 
injury because his complaint alleges, like the plaintiff 
in National Independent Theatre Exhibitors, that he 
suffered injury in the form of lost employment as an effect 
of the conspiracy to harm the market for restaurant linens. 
Feldman's "financial injury" was "secondary" to the goal 
of reduced competition in the market for restaurant linens. 
Id. (citation omitted). 

Although National Independent Theatre Exhibitors 
forecloses Feldman's alternative argument on the facts 
alleged, he urges us to adopt one of the holdings of 
Ostrofe v. H.S. Crocker Co., 740 F.2d 739 (9th Cir. 1984). 
We cannot do so. In Ostrofe, the Ninth Circuit ruled 
that an employee had antitrust standing to challenge 
anticompetitive activity involving his employer because 
the employee would not participate in the scheme and 
his employer fired him as a result. Id. at 744. The court 
explained that "the injury [the employee] sustained 
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was such an integral part of the scheme to eliminate 
competition in that market" that the employee suffered 
antitrust injury. ld. at 746. This decision conflicts with 
our precedent. See Nat'l Indep. Theatre Exhibitors, 748 
F.2d at 608. And there are compelling arguments against 
following the decision of the Ninth Circuit in any event. 
See Ostrofe, 740 F.2d at 748-52 (Kennedy, J. dissenting). 
Perhaps recognizing these problems, the Ninth Circuit 
narrowed the application of Ostrofe to circumstances, 
not alleged in Feldman's complaint, where an employee 
was an "essential participant" in an antitrust conspiracy, 
the employee's termination was a "'necessary means' to 
accomplish the scheme, and the employee has the greatest 
incentive to challenge the antitrust violation." Vinci v. 
Waste Mgmt., Inc., 80 F.3d 1372, 1375-76 (9th Cir. 1996) 
(citation omitted). Feldman's complaint does not satisfy 
that standard, so his alternative theory does not help him. 
Feldman has not alleged a cognizable antitrust injury and 
does not have antitrust standing to sue American Dawn, 
Tozer, and Rasband. 

B. The Complaint Fails to Allege Violations of the 
Racketeering Acts. 

The complaint fails to state claims that American 
Dawn, Tozer, and Rasband violated the federal and 
Georgia racketeering acts, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et seq., Ga. 
Code Ann.§ 16-14-1 et seq., and that Tozer and Rasband 
conspired to violate those acts when they colluded to 
conceal their participation in the deferred billing scheme 
and the shipment of substandard products to ALSCO. The 
federal and Georgia racketeering acts are "essentially 
identical," meaning failure to state a claim under the 
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federal act warrants dismissal under the Georgia act. 
Simpson v. Sanderson Farms, Inc., 744 F. 3d 702, 705 n.1 
(11th Cir. 2014) (citation omitted). To state a civil claim 
under the federal Racketeering Act, 18 U.S. C. § 1964(c), 
a complaint must allege "that the defendant committed a 
pattern of ... predicate acts," "that the plaintiff suffered 
injury to business or property," and "that the defendant's 
racketeering activity proximately caused the injury." !d. 
at 705. (citations omitted). "In order to prove a pattern 
of racketeering ... , a plaintiff must show at least two 
racketeering predicates that are related, and that they 
amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal activity." 
Am. DentalAss'n, 605 F. 3d at 1290-91. To prove proximate 
causation, "[t]he connection between the racketeering 
activity and the injury can be neither remote, purely 
contingent, nor indirect." Ray v. Spirit Airlines, Inc., 836 
F.3d 1340, 1349 (11th Cir. 2016) (citations omitted). 

Feldman argues that the complaint alleges a pattern 
of predicate acts in violation of the Travel Act, 18 U.S. C. 
§ 1952, but the text of that statute refutes his argument. 
The Travel Act prohibits "distribut[ing] the proceeds 
of" "any business enterprise involving gambling, liquor 
... , narcotics ... , ... prostitution ... , extortion, bribery, 
... arson," id. § 1952(a)(1) & (b), or money laundering, 
id. § 1956. The complaint alleges none of these activities. 
Although the Travel Act incorporates the state law 
definition of some of these prohibited activities-id. 
§ 1952(b) ("'[U]nlawful activity' means ... extortion, 
bribery, or arson in violation of the laws of the State in 
which committed.")-it does not incorporate common law 
fraud. 
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In addition, Feldman argues that the complaint 
alleges predicate acts of wire fraud, 18 U.S.C. § 1343. 
Feldman contends that the complaint alleges that 
Tozer and Rasband used the wires to spread falsehoods 
about Feldman to conceal their involvement in the 
deferred billing of ALSCO accounts and the shipment of 
substandard goods to ALSCO. According to Feldman, the 
comments of Tozer and Rasband were part of a "campaign 
to portray . . . Feldman as the villain in the deferred 
billing saga" and those comments constitute wire fraud. 
We disagree. 

The complaint fails to allege predicate acts of wire 
fraud. "[W]ire fraud occurs when a person (1) intentionally 
participates in a scheme to defraud another of money or 
property and (2) uses the mails or wires in furtherance 
of that scheme." Am. Dental, 605 F.3d at 1290 (citation 
omitted). The district court explained, and we agree, that 
the complaint alleges only one statement-not two-made 
by either Tozer or Rasband over the wires in furtherance 
of the conspiracy to defraud ALSCO: when Rasband told 
Baltic managers that it was a "'big mistake' ... to have 
hired ... Feldman." We also agree with the district court 
that this statement is not actionable as wire fraud because 
it is an expression of opinion, not "a misrepresentation as 
to some existing fact." Cj United States v. Svete, 556 F. 3d 
1157, 1162 (11th Cir. 2009) (citation omitted). 

Even if the complaint had alleged fraudulent 
statements made over the wires, Feldman's argument 
would still fail because the statements were not the 
proximate cause of Feldman's injury. Feldman argues that 
the "Complaint aver[ red] that [Tozer and Rasband] urged 



14a 

Appendix A 

ALSCO not to deal with ... Feldman in furtherance of 
their plan to <frame' him for the [deferred] billing scheme," 
and this cover-up "procured" Feldman's "constructive 
discharge" from the industry. But the complaint made 
clear that the alleged wire fraud targeted ALSCO, not 
Feldman, because Tozer and Rasband sought to cover up 
their involvement in the deferred billing scheme and the 
shipment of substandard goods to ALSCO. Proximate 
causation requires a direct relation between the "injury 
asserted and the injurious conduct alleged," Anza v. Ideal 
Steel Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 457, 126 S. Ct. 1991, 
164 L. Ed. 2d 720 (2006) (citation omitted), and, here, the 
alleged injurious conduct targeted ALSCO. 

Feldman's complaint fails to allege violations of the 
federal and Georgia racketeering acts. In addition, we 
affirm the dismissal of Feldman's claim that Tozer and 
Rasband conspired to violate the racketeering acts. This 
claim necessarily fails because the complaint fails to allege 
an underlying violation of the racketeering acts. Jackson 
v. BellSouth Telecomms., 372 F.3d 1250, 1269 (11th Cir. 
2004). 

C. The Complaint Fails to Allege Tortious Interference 
with Business Relations, Tortious Interference with 
Employment, and Civil Conspiracy. 

Under Georgia law, a claim of tortious interference 
with business relations requires "improper action or 
wrongful conduct by the defendant," while acting as a 
"stranger to the contract or business relation at issue." 
Mabra v. SF, Inc., 316 Ga. App. 62, 728 S.E.2d 737, 739-
40 (Ga. Ct. App. 2012) (citations omitted). "One is not a 



15a 

Appendix A 

stranger to the contract just because one is not a party to 
the contract." ld. at 740 (citation omitted). Parties to an 
"interwoven contractual arrangement" and parties that 
have a "direct economic interest in or would benefit from 
a contract with which they are alleged to have interfered" 
are not strangers to that contract or relationship. ld. 
(citations omitted). The Georgia Court of Appeals has 
ruled that an arcade game salesman, for example, was not 
a stranger to a business relationship between his former 
employer and several of its clients despite his solicitation 
of those clients for his new employer because the salesman 
had developed relationships with those clients when he 
worked for his previous employer. Tom's Amusement Co. 
v. Total Vending Servs., 243 Ga. App. 294, 533 S.E.2d 413, 
417-18 (Ga. Ct. App. 2000). 

Feldman argues that he alleged that Tozer and 
American Dawn tortiously interfered with Feldman's 
relationship with ALSCO, but we disagree. Neither 
Tozer nor American Dawn were strangers to Feldman's 
relationship with ALSCO. Like the employee in Tom's 
Amusement, the complaint alleges that Feldman 
developed his relationship with ALSCO during his time 
as an employee of American Dawn. For example, the 
complaint alleges that "ALSCO was ... Feldman's biggest 
client," "Feldman served as one of [American Dawn]'s 
leading sales persons to ALSCO," and "[a]n implied ... 
contractual relationship between ... Feldman and ALSCO 
arose through the course of his dealings with ALSCO." 
Feldman argues that although he sold "to ALSCO as an 
[American Dawn] employee, any relationship he would have 
with ALSCO as a Baltic employee would be independent of 
his prior status as an [American Dawn] employee." But this 
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argument misconstrues the allegations in the complaint. 
His relationship with ALSCO at Baltic was interwoven 
with, or derivative of, his time at American Dawn. 

Feldman also argues that the complaint states a 
claim of tortious interference against Rasband because 
Rasband '.Vas a stranger to Feldman's relationship with 
ALSCO, but we decline to decide this argument because 
Feldman failed to make it to the district court. We will 
not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. 
Access Now, Inc. v. Sw. Airlines Co., 385 F.3d 1324, 1331 
(11th Cir. 2004). We affirm the dismissal of the claim of 
tortious interference with a business relationship. 

We also affirm the dismissal of Feldman's claim of 
tortious interference with employment against Rasband 
and Tozer. Feldman failed to preserve his argument that 
Rasband interfered with his employment relationship 
with Baltic because he raises it for the first time on 
appeal. Id. Likewise, he failed to preserve his claim of 
tortious interference with employment against Tozer 
because he made his argument that Tozer was a joint 
tortfeasor with Rasband for the first time in his motion 
for reconsideration. Cf. O'Neal v. Kennamer, 958 F.2d 
1044, 1047 (11th Cir. 1992) ("Motions to amend should not 
be used to raise arguments which could, and should, have 
been made before the judgment was issued."). 

Finally, we affirm the dismissal of the claim of civil 
conspiracy against Tozer and Rasband. The district court 
ruled, and we agree, that the claim of civil conspiracy 
necessarily fails because the complaint fails to allege 
underlying claims of tortious interference. "Absent 
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[an] underlying tort, there can be no liability for civil 
conspiracy." Best Jewelry Mfg. Co. v. Reed Elsevier Inc., 
334 Ga. App. 826, 780 S.E.2d 689, 697 (Ga. Ct. App. 2015) 
(citation omitted). 

D. The Complaint Fails to State Claims of Negligent 
Misrepresentation and Fraud. 

The district court correctly dismissed Feldman's 
claims of negligent misrepresentation and fraud predicated 
on Tozer's allegedly false promise that American Dawn 
would pay Feldman severance. Feldman has abandoned his 
claim of negligent misrepresentation because, apart from 
one passing reference to the claim in his opening brief, 
the issue "has not been briefed before the court." Access 
Now, 385 F.3d at 1330. And we agree with the district 
court that the complaint fails to state a claim of fraud. 

"Fraud cannot be predicated upon statements which 
are promissory in their nature as to future acts," Alston 
v. Brown Transp. Corp., 182 Ga. App. 632,356 S.E.2d 517, 
518 (Ga. Ct. App. 1987) (citation omitted), unless "there 
[was] a present intention not to perform or a present 
knowledge that the future event will not occur," Taylor v. 
Amisub, Inc., 186 Ga. App. 834,368 S.E.2d 791,793 (Ga. 
Ct. App. 1988) (citations omitted). But, this exception does 
not apply where the "promises upon which the []appellant[] 
rel[ies] ... were unenforceable [as a contract] even absent 
any fraud at the time of their utterance." Id. (citation 
omitted). Feldman's complaint fails to allege that Tozer or 
American Dawn "promised to pay [him] any determinable 
sum as severance pay," and "[b]ecause price is an essential 
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element of a valid contract," McLane v. AtlantaMkt. Ctr. 
Mgmt. Co., 225 Ga. App. 818, 486 S.E.2d 30, 35-36 (Ga. 
Ct. App. 1997), rev'd on other grounds, 269 Ga. 604, 503 
S.E.2d 278 (Ga. 1998), the complaint fails to state a claim 
of fraud. See Amisub, 368 S.E.2d at 793. 

The decisions that Feldman argues compel reversal 
are distinguishable. Sims v. Bayside Capital, Inc. involved 
a promise to pay severance that was significantly more 
detailed than the alleged promise made by Tozer. 327 Ga. 
App. 47, 755 S.E.2d 520, 523 (Ga. Ct. App. 2014) (explaining 
that the promise to pay severance included "six months 
of his salary as severance, ... health insurance coverage 
through the end of 2011, and a payment of $175,000 as 
reimbursement for legal fees."). Likewise, the promise 
to pay severance in Vernon v. Assurance Forensic 
Accounting, LLC was in writing and industry custom 
supported finding an enforceable severance contract. 333 
Ga. App. 377,774 S.E.2d 197,205-06 (Ga. Ct. App. 2015). 
We affirm the dismissal of Feldman's claims of negligent 
misrepresentation and fraud. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

We AFFIRM the dismissal of Feldman's complaint. 
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APPENDIX B - ORDER OF THE UNITED 
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN 

DISTRICT OF GEORGIA, ATLANTA DIVISION, 
FILED SEPTEMBER 16, 2015 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

Civil Action No. 1:14-cv-3006-LMM 

ANDREW FELDMAN, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

AMERICAN DAWN, INC., VYTO TOZER 
and PAUL RASBAND, 

Defendants. 

ORDER 

This matter comes before the Court on Defendant 
Paul Rasband's Motion to Dismiss [32] and Defendants 
American Dawn, Inc. ("ADI") and Vyto Tozer's Motion 
to Dismiss [33]. After reviewing the record, the Court 
enters the following Order. 

I. BACKGROUND 

The facts relied upon in this Order are taken from 
the Amended Complaint [29]. As required on a motion to 
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dismiss, the Court has accepted all facts pleaded therein, 
and has viewed all inferences in a light most favorable to 
the Plaintiff. 

Plaintiff Andrew Feldman was an employee of 
Defendant ADI from September 1996 until his termination 
in February2011. Dkt. No. [29] ~~ 9, 170. ADI manufactures 
and imports textile products that are sold in wholesale, 
commercial, and retail markets throughout the United 
States. !d. ~ 10 Plaintiff worked as a commissioned sales 
person for ADI, and prior to his termination was the 
Regional Sales Manager for the Eastern Division, based in 
Atlanta, Georgia. !d.~~ 14, 15. His immediate supervisor 
was Defendant Tozer, the National Sales Director of AD I. 
!d. 

ADI's largest customer is ALSCO, a company that 
rents and sells linens and uniforms to institutional and 
corporate consumers. Id. ~ 13. ALSCO's purchases 
from ADI primarily serviced the restaurant linen rental 
market, where ALSCO holds a dominant market position. 
!d. Plaintiff served as one of ADI's leading sales persons 
to ALSCO. I d. ~~ 16, 18. 

Plaintiff's primary contact with ALSCO was 
Defendant Rasband. Id. ~ 24. During the relevant time 
period, Mr. Rasband served as an outside consultant for 
ALSCO, advising ALSCO management on the pricing of 
textiles it purchased from suppliers such as AD I. !d.~ 25. 
Mr. Rasband is a close personal friend of Mr. Tozer and 
is also friends with key members of ALSCO ownership. 
Id. ~~ 27-28. 
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Most of the products purchased by ALSCO for the 
restaurant linen rental market were manufactured either 
by ADI or by The Venus Group ("Venus"), a competitor 
of ADI. Id. ~~ 29-30. ALSCO forwarded product 
specifications to ADI and Venus, and the companies were 
required to give ALSCO the most favorable prices on all 
items. Id. ~~ 32, 41. In 2008, ALSCO's Vice President 
of Operations believed ADI and Venus were in contact 
with one another regarding the determination of product 
prices. !d. ~ 33. While Plaintiff worked at ADI, he raised 
concerns regarding apparent price fixing between ADI 
and Venus. Id. ~ 34. 

ADI and Venus also shipped products to ALSCO 
that failed to meet ALSCO's specifications. Id. ~ 41. 
ADI employees routinely falsified and rigged product 
tests by pre-screening the items to be tested. Id. ~ 49. 
ADI employees falsified shipment reports by deleting 
reference to the substitution of inferior products. Id. 
~51. Mr. Rasband was aware that ADI was selling inferior 
goods to ALSCO, but nevertheless prodded ALSCO into 
purchasing products from AD I. !d.~ 69. 

By October 2009, Mr. Rasband was aware that ADI's 
shipment of inferior products had caused ALSCO to be 
over-billed by as much as $175,000.00, but requested a 
rebate of only $51,000.00 on ALSCO's behalf. Id. ~ 70. 
Mr. Rasband would solicit multiple requests for bids on 
behalf of ALSCO, but would only recommend bids from 
ADI or Venus, despite ADI's inferior products. Id. ~ 71. 
Mr. Rasband exchanged pricing comparisons of Venus 
with Mr. Tozer to enable ADI to adjust its prices. !d. 75. 
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ADI routinely substituted inferior products for 
products with particular specifications in shipments to 
ALSCO's buyers, but concealed the substituted goods in 
final reports sent to ALSCO. !d. 1111 79, 86. ADI padded 
the price of the goods sold to ALSCO, such that the actual 
increase in unit price was disproportionate to the rise 
in production cost per unit. ld. 11 97. Mr. Tozer and Mr. 
Rasband routinely exchanged information on the pricing 
of ADI products via email. !d. 11103. Plaintiff expressed 
his concern to ADI management over the deliberate sale 
of inferior products to ALSCO and spoke out against 
the falsification of product testing and improper price 
increases. !d. 1111121-22. 

As a means of concealing its fraudulent trade 
practices, ADI deferred billing on ALSCO accounts. !d. 
11114. Under the deferred billing set-up, ALSCO would 
order product, ADI would ship the product, and ADI 
would bill ALSCO for the product at a later date. !d. 11127. 
Lower level ALSCO employees would ask Plaintiff and 
other ADI employees to defer billing, which was frowned 
upon by ALSCO management and ALSCO accountants, 
but Plaintiff and other sales representatives comolied - ~ 

with those requests. !d. 1111 124-25. Mr. Tozer and other 
ADI managers actively or tacitly condoned the deferred 
billing, and in certain instances authorized or directed 
Plaintiff to defer billing. I d. 1111 115-16. 

In 2011, an internal audit at ALSCO uncovered the 
deferred billing practice and ALSCO auditors began an 
investigation. Id. ,1 148. ALSCO's auditors discovered 
an email sent to Plaintiff regarding a deferred bill on 
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another ADI employee's account, and used it as evidence 
that Plaintiff was acting unilaterally, despite the email's 
indication that another ADI employee requested the 
deferred bill. !d. ~ 157. To placate ALSCO's auditors, ADI 
and ALSCO publicly disapproved of the deferred billing 
practice. !d. ~ 161. ALSCO ultimately blamed ADI for the 
deferred billing, despite its knowledge of and participation 
in the practice. !d.~~ 162-63. 

ADI management, including Mr. Tozer, made 
Plaintiff the scapegoat for the deferred billing practice as 
punishment for the fact that Plaintiff complained that ADI 
was cheating ALSCO. Id. ~ 164. Mr. Tozer had primary 
responsibility for the ALSCO account, and would have 
faced probable termination had ADI lost ALSCO as a 
customer. !d.~ 165. To preserve his position at ADI and to 
ensure ALSCO remained a customer, Mr. Tozer presented 
skewed facts to ADI's owners, accusing Plaintiff of 
dishonesty, falsification of records, and violating company 
policy. !d. ~~ 166-68. Plaintiff was abruptly terminated 
from ADI via telephone on February 28, 2011. Id. ~ 170. 

Mr. Tozer encouraged Plaintiff to seek severance 
payments from ADI when he left, representing that 
Plaintiff remained eligible for severance. I d. ~ 171. After 
he was notified of his termination, Plaintiff was tasked 
with training his replacement. !d.~ 173. Plaintiff assisted 
in the recruitment of one of the new employees who was to 
serve as his replacement, and assisted the new employee 
over the telephone during his transition to ADI. !d. 
~~ 174-75. 
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Within 30 days after his termination from ADI, 
Plaintiff was hired as a sales person by Baltic Linen 
Company, Inc. ("Baltic"), a competing manufacturer of 
linen products for the restaurant linen rental market. 
Id. 1111 176-77. ADI did not offer Plaintiff any severance 
package upon his termination. Id. 11 182. When Plaintiff 
inquired, Mr. Tozer claimed that the reason Plaintiff 
was not offered severance was because he had accepted 
employment with Baltic and that he needed to remain 
unemployed for a period of 30 days before going to work 
for a competitor. Id. 11 183. Plaintiff raised the issue of 
severance with ADI's owners, but was ultimately rebuffed. 
Id. 11 185. ADI's outside counsel responded to Plaintiff's 
request for severance in a letter dated July 1, 2011, 
stating "your employment was terminated because you 
falsified company records. Aside from violating company 
policies, your dishonesty detrimentally impacted ADI's 
relationship with a valued customer and interfered with 
ADI's accounting receivables ... We cannot reward your 
dishonesty with severance pay." !d. 11187. Plaintiff believes 
the decision to deny him severance was based on false 
rumors and accusations of impropriety made by Mr. Tozer 
and/or Mr. Rasband, and to punish and penalize him for 
going to work for a competitor. !d. 1111 188-89. 

Baltic had previously sold linens to ALSCO in the 
Pacific Northwest and had been attempting to expand its 
business with ALSCO in the restaurant linen rental market 
since November 2008. !d. 1111 177-78. After Plaintiff began 
working for Baltic, ALSCO representatives contacted 
Baltic supervisors and directed them to keep Plaintiff 
away from ALSCO facilities and buyers and expressed 
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deep concerns over Baltic's hiring of Plaintiff. I d. '1!'1!192-
93. Mr. Rasband contacted Plaintiff's supervisors at Baltic 
and informed them that it was a big mistake for them to 
have hired Plaintiff, and that he was no longer welcome 
at ALSCO. I d. '1!'1!196-97. 

In April 2011, Plaintiff prepared a PowerPoint 
presentation to give to ALSCO representatives, but was 
prohibited from doing so. I d. 'il'il198-99 Instead, Plaintiff's 
supervisors gave the presentation. I d. 'il'il199. In June 2011, 
at a "Clean Show," Plaintiff attempted to direct Baltic 
management to key ALSCO decision-makers, but ALSCO 
managers directed Baltic not to send its representatives. 
Id. 'if 204-05. In April 2012, an ALSCO executive told 
Plaintiff that Mr. Tozer had claimed Plaintiff had post
dated and re-dated bills so that he could receive more 
money and that he was living paycheck to paycheck. 
Id. 'if 207. Mr. Tozer claimed that ADI did not support 
any billing modifications and that Plaintiff acted as an 
unethical "lone wolf." I d. 'if 208. 

In 2012, ALSCO announced its decision to accept 
bids for its textile business. 1 Id. 'if 214. Mr. Rasband 
requested bids from potential suppliers, including Baltic. 
I d. 'il'il217 -18. Potential ALSCO suppliers, including Baltic, 
submitted bids during the summer of2012. I d. 'il220. Baltic 
was not the overall low bidder, but was the low bidder in 
several areas and offered higher quality goods, so Plaintiff 
believed ALSCO would enter into a contract with Baltic. 

1. At around the same time, Baltic lost $4 million in sales 
because of ALSCO's acquisition of companies Baltic previously 
supplied. !d. ,-r,-r 219-221. 
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!d. ~ 239. However, ALSCO did not contract with Baltic 
and continued to purchase from ADI. !d.~ 241. 

In prior instances where ALSCO accepted bids, Mr. 
Rasband would contact ADI and review and amend its 
submitted bid to make it more acceptable after comparing 
('omnt:>tinO' l-.ir1c Trl .-r 'J'JQ urh~L ... Dl~;~~t·~·~.l:f!.l ·w~.c;: e~·ITIPilOve~u-1 _......., ......... .t"'-'V.I..L.Lb IV~\.A.IV• .LUI. ll i..U • .IU. V¥ ~ ~~c:: ~ ~a.ll v '-"'IV J 

by Baltic, Mr. Rasband did not engage or provide Baltic 
with any of the information he provided to ADI and/or 
Mr. Tozer. !d. ~I 225. 

Because Mr. Rasband, Mr. Tozer, and ADI manipulated 
bids and froze Baltic out of the market, Plaintiff's salary 
at Baltic was severely reduced, he was constructively 
discharged from his position, and he had to find other 
work outside of Georgia. !d.~ 245. Plaintiff lost 75% of his 
income and was forced to sell his home. !d.~ 246. 

Plaintiff asserts claims against ADI, Mr. Tozer, and 
Mr. Rasband for restraint of trade in violation of 15 U.S. C. 
§ 1 et seq. (Count I), violation of the Racketeer Influenced 
and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. 
§§ 1961-1968 (Count II), violation of the Georgia RICO Act, 
O.C.G.A. §§ 16-14-1 to -12 (Count IV), and interference 
with business relations (Count VI). Against Mr. Tozer 
and Mr. Rasband, Plaintiff asserts claims for conspiracy 
to violate the federal RICO Act (Count III), conspiracy 
to violate the Georgia RICO Act (Count V), interference 
with employment (Count VII), and civil conspiracy (Count 
VIII). Plaintiff also alleges fraud (Count IX) and negligent 
misrepresentation (Count X) against ADI and Mr. Tozer. 
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Defendants now move to dismiss all claims of the 
Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 
Procedure 12(b)(6). 

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

A complaint may be dismissed under a Rule 12(b) 
(6) motion to dismiss if the facts as pled do not state a 
claim for relief that is plausible on its face. Ashcroft v. 
Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009) ("[O]nly a complaint that 
states a plausible claim for relief survives a motion to 
dismiss."); BellAtl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544,561-
62, 570 (2007) (retiring the prior standard from Conley 
v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41,45-46 (1957), which provided that 
in reviewing the sufficiency of a complaint, the complaint 
should not be dismissed "unless it appears beyond doubt 
that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of 
his claim which would entitle him to relief."). In Iqbal, 
the Supreme Court reiterated that although Rule 8 of 
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure does not require 
detailed factual allegations, it does demand "more than 
an unadorned, the-defendant-unlawfully-harmed-me 
accusation." Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. 

In Twombly, the Supreme Court emphasized that a 
complaint "requires more than labels and conclusions, 
and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of 
action will not do." 550 U.S. at 555 Factual allegations in 
a complaint need not be detailed, but "must be enough to 
raise a right to relief above the speculative level on the 
assumption that all the allegations in the complaint are 
true (even if doubtful in fact)." I d. (internal citations and 
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emphasis omitted). A complaint is plausible on its face 
when it provides the factual content necessary for "the 
court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant 
is liable for the misconduct alleged." Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678. 

To survive a motion to dismiss, a claim of fraud must 
also satisfy the heightened pleading requirements of 
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b), which provides that 
"in alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with 
particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or 
mistake." FED. R. Crv. P. 9(b). However, "[m]alice, intent, 
knowledge, and other conditions of a person's mind may 
be alleged generally." I d. Rule 9(b) may be satisfied if the 
pleading sets forth: (1) the precise statements, documents, 
misrepresentations, or omissions made; (2) the time, place, 
and person responsible for the statement or omission; 
(3) the content and manner in which these statements 
misled the plaintiff; and (4) what the defendant gained by 
the alleged fraud. Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of 
Fla., Inc., 116 F.3d 1364, 1371 (11th Cir. 1997). 

III. DISCUSSION 

A. Count I: Restraint of Trade 

Defendants move to dismiss Plaintiff's claim for 
restraint of trade, arguing that Plaintiff does not have 
antitrust standing. Dkt. No. [32-1] at 9; Dkt. No. [33-1] 
at 23.2 

2. Defendants present additional alternative arguments, which 
the Court declines to address because Plaintiff's Amended Complaint 
fails to demonstrate a proper antitrust injury. 
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Antitrust standing requires more than the basic "case 
or controversy" or "injury in fact" required by Article 
III of the Constitution. Sunbeam Television Corp. v. 
Nielsen Media Research, Inc., 711 F. 3d 1264, 1270 (11th 
Cir. 2013) (citing Fla. Seed Co., Inc. v. Monsanto Co., 105 
F. 3d 1372, 1374 (11th Cir. 1997)). The doctrine of antitrust 
standing is "a conscientious method to find the proper 
private plaintiff to enforce the antitrust laws" and requires 
"consideration of the nexus between the antitrust violation 
and the plaintiff's harm and whether the harm alleged is 
of the type for which Congress provides a remedy." I d. at 
1270-71 (first citing Todorov v. DCH Healthcare Auth., 
921 F.2d 1438, 1448 (11th Cir. 1991); then citing Cargill, 
Inc. v. Monfort of Colo., Inc., 479 U.S. 104, 109-10 (1986)). 

The Eleventh Circuit evaluates antitrust standing 
under a two-prong test-the plaintiff must show it (1) has 
suffered an "antitrust injury," and (2) is an "efficient 
enforcer" of the antitrust laws. I d. at 1271. An antitrust 
injury is an "injury of the type the antitrust laws were 
intended to prevent and that flows from that which makes 
the defendant's acts unlawful" Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo 
Bowl-0-Mat, Inc., 429 U.S. 477, 489 (1977). Such injury 
"should, in short, be 'the type of loss that the claimed 
violations ... would be likely to cause."' I d. (quoting Zenith 
Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, 395 U.S. 100, 125 
(1969)). A plaintiff must show that "his injury coincides 
with the public detriment tending to result from the 
alleged violation ... increasing the likelihood that public 
and private enforcement of the antitrust laws will further 
the same goal of increased competition." Todorov, 921 
F.2d at 1450. 
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Plaintiff's antitrust claims are based on allegations 
that Defendants "acted and conspired to freeze out Baltic 
(and any other vendor for whom Mr. Feldman might be 
working) from sourcing and/or supplying commercial 
textiles to the restaurant linen rental market." Dkt. No. 
[29] ~ 266. He also contends that "Defendants might have 
facilitated a horizontal price fixing conspiracy." Dkt. No. 
[35] at 13. 

Defendant Rasband argues that Plaintiff lacks a 
proper antitrust injury because he is not a customer or 
competitor in the allegedly injured market, and cannot 
assert a claim as a former employee of Baltic based on 
Baltic's alleged antitrust injury. Dkt. No. [32-1] at 9-11. 
Similarly, Defendants ADI and Tozer argue that Plaintiff's 
antitrust claim should be dismissed because his alleged 
injury is derivative of Baltic. Dkt. No. [33-1] at 23. Both 
of these arguments essentially contend that Plaintiff has 
not suffered the type of injury necessary for him to be a 
proper antitrust plaintiff. 

Plaintiff responds that he has suffered antitrust 
injuries in the form of (1) potential harm to competition 
and (2) lost employment and income. Dkt. No. [35] at 10-16. 

1. Potential Harm to Competition 

With regard to Plaintiff's first asserted antitrust 
injury, Plaintiff does not argue in response that he was a 
customer or competitor in the market, nor does he explain 
how the alleged harm to competition injured him. Plaintiff 
argues only that "because of the market dominance of 
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ADI, competitors such as Baltic were frozen out of the 
relevant marketplace ... [and] ADI and ALSCO effectively 
set a price for the products within the market." Dkt. No. 
[35] at 11; Dkt. No. [34] at 12. 

Based on the allegations of the Complaint and the 
arguments of the parties, the Court cannot find that 
Plaintiff has suffered a sufficient injury from the potential 
harm to competition. At most, the Court could infer that 
Baltic has suffered an antitrust injury, but antitrust 
standing would not extend to Baltic's employees or former 
employees. SeeN at 'l Indep. Theatre, 7 48 F.2d at 608 ("The 
law on standing in this situation is clear. Neither an officer 
nor an employee of a corporation has standing to bring an 
action in his own right for an antitrust violation causing 
injury to the corporation and its business."). 

2. Lost Employment 

Plaintiff next argues that he personally suffered 
an antitrust injury "in the form of lost employment and 
income, and the inability to sell products of a competitor 
within the marketplace." Dkt. No. [35] at 14; Dkt. No. 
[34] at 15. He argues that he "lost his job on account of 
the actions of the Defendants, which were acts designed 
to inflict retribution upon [him]." Dkt. No. [35] at 16; Dkt. 
No. [34] at 17. 

Plaintiff relies on two cases decided in 1967 for 
the proposition that loss of employment can constitute 
injury sufficient to provide antitrust standing. However, 
both cases pre-dated the Supreme Court's 1977 decision 



32a 

AppendixB 

in Brunswick. There, the Court rejected a broad 
interpretation of antitrust standing, warning that such 
an approach would make "recovery entirely fortuitous, 
and would authorize damages for losses which are of no 
concern to the antitrust laws." Brunswick, 429 U.S. at 
487. The Court went on to hold that a plaintiff "must prove 
... injury of the type the antitrust laws were intended to 
prevent and that flows from that which makes defendants' 
acts unlawful." I d. at 489. 

Here, the Court finds that Plaintiff's loss of employment 
is not an antitrust injury. First, one individual's loss of 
employment is not the type of injury antitrust laws were 
intended to prevent. See Reitz v. Canon U.S.A., Inc., 695 
F. Supp. 552, 554 (S.D. Fla. 1988) ("The nature of Reitz's 
injury, the loss of employment, does not implicate the 
antitrust policy of protecting participants in a relevant 
economic market."); Sharp v. United Airlines, Inc., 967 
F.2d 404, 408 (lOth Cir. 1992) (holding employees of airline 
driven into bankruptcy by competitors who violated 
antitrust laws could not establish antitrust injury by their 
loss of employment). 

Second, Plaintiff fails to establish that his termination 
from Baltic was caused by Defendants' unlawful conduct. 
He alleges that Defendants "effectively barred [him] from 
having any manner of business relationship with ALSCO, 
thus effectively hindering his employment prospects 
at Baltic." Dkt. No. [29] 11 244. The Supreme Court has 
emphasized that the antitrust laws "do not restrict the 
long recognized right of a trader or manufacturer engaged 
in an entirely private business, freely to exercise his own 
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independent discretion as to parties with whom he will 
deal." Verizon Commc'ns Inc. v. Law Offices of Curtis 
v. Trinka, L.L.P., 540 U.S. 398, 408 (2004). Defendant 
Rasband's alleged refusal to do business with Plaintiff 
on behalf of ALSCO is not unlawful antitrust conduct. 

While Defendants' alleged actions "to manipulate bids 
and freeze Baltic out of the market" may be unlawful, the 
causal connection between such actions and Plaintiff's loss 
of employment is indirect and remote. Dkt. No. [29] 'tl244. 
Essentially, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants manipulated 
bids, causing ALSCO to contract with ADI and not Baltic, 
leading Baltic to suffer financially, forcing Baltic to reduce 
Plaintiff's salary, which resulted in his constructive 
discharge from his position. I d. 'tl't!244-45. This speculative 
chain of causation assumes Baltic would have gained 
ALSCO's business had ADI not amended its bid, but there 
are no allegations that Baltic's bid was the second lowest. 
Even at this early stage of litigation, Plaintiff's Amended 
Complaint is devoid of the particular facts demonstrating 
that this conduct caused his employment problems. 3 

Because Plaintiff's alleged injury is, at most, the indirect 
and remote consequence of the alleged antitrust violations, 
he has not suffered an antitrust injury. See Palazzo v. Gulf 
Oil Corp., 764 F.2d 1381, 1388 (11th Cir. 1985) (holding 
officers of corporation did not have antitrust standing 
in their individual capacities to recover for competitor's 

3. Furthermore, while not controlling, the Amended Complaint 
also suggests an intervening cause for Baltic's decision to reduce 
Plaintiff's salary that is wholly unrelated to Defendants' actions
that Baltic lost $4 million in sales due to ALSCO's acquisition of 
facilities previously supplied by Baltic. !d.~~ 219, 221. 
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antitrust violations, explaining that individuals' "[c]laims 
for loss of income and loss of profits resulting from injury 
to a business are simply too remote to be cognizable 
claims under the antitrust laws"); Sharp, 967 F.2d at 408 
(employees could not establish antitrust standing where 
they lost their employment as a result of an allegedly 
ftnticompetiti~le scheme involving their employer because 
employees' losses are "tangential to any alleged harm in 
[employer's] market[].") 

Because the Court finds no antitrust injury, it need 
not reach the second prong of the inquiry. Accordingly, 
Defendants' Motions to Dismiss [32, 33] are GRANTED 
with regard to Count I. 

B. Counts 11-V: RICO Claims 

Defendants move to dismiss Plaintiff's claims for 
violation of the federal RICO Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-1968 
(Count II), violation of the Georgia RICO Act, O.C.G.A. 
§§ 16-14-1 to -12 (Count IV), and conspiracy to violate 
those acts (Counts III and V). Dkt. No. [32-1] at 18-30; 
Dkt. No. [33-1] at 24-33. Defendants argue that Plaintiff 
fails to allege a pattern of racketeering activity, and that 
any such activity was the proximate cause of his injury. 
Dkt. No. [32-1] at 20-27; Dkt. No. [33-1] at 27-31. 

To state a civil RICO claim, a plaintiff must allege 
three essential elements: (1) that defendant committed 
a pattern of racketeering activity under 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1962; (2) that plaintiff suffered injury to business or 
property; and (3) that defendant's racketeering activity 
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proximately caused the injury. Simpson v. Sanderson 
Farms, Inc., 744 F.3d 702, 705 (11th Cir. 2014).4 A pattern 
of racketeering activity is established by showing "at least 
two racketeering predicates that are related, and that they 
amount to or pose a threat of continued criminal activity." 
Am. DentalAss'n v. Cigna Corp., 605 F.3d 1283, 1290-91 
(11th Cir. 2010). To prove causation, RICO plaintiffs must 
show "some direct relation between the injury asserted 
and the injurious conduct alleged." Anza v. Ideal Steel 
Supply Corp., 547 U.S. 451, 464 (2006) (quoting Holmes 
v. Sec. Inv'r Prot. Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268 (1992)). 

In his Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that 
Defendants were engaged in predicate acts of wire 
fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and racketeering 
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1952. Dkt. No. [29] ~~ 290, 300, 
314, 323. He contends these violations caused him injury 
"in that he has been ostracized from any meaningful 
business contact with ALSCO representatives" and has 
been "forced out of his position with Baltic." I d.~~ 295-96, 
304-05, 318-19, 327-28. 

1. 18 U.S.C. § 1952 - Racketeering 

First, Defendants argue that Plaintiff misconstrues 
18 U.S.C. § 1952, which prohibits interstate travel in aid 

4. Georgia's RICO Act is "essentially identical to the federal 
RICO statutes," and incorporates the federal list of predicate 
offenses into its definition of "racketeering activity." !d. at 705 n.l; 
see also O.C.G.A. § 16-14-3(5)(C). Where a complaint fails to state a 
federal RICO claim it also fails to state a RICO claim under Georgia 
law. Simpson, 744 F.3d at 705 n.l. 



36a 

AppendixB 

of certain unlawful activities. Dkt. No. [32-1] at 18 n.36; 
Dkt. No. [33-1] at 28. The unlawful activities listed in 
§ 1952(b) include business enterprises involving gambling, 
narcotics or controlled substances, unpaid excise taxes on 
liquor, and prostitution, and extortion, bribery, or arson. 
18 U.S.C. § 1952(b). None of these activities are alleged 
in thP AmPnnPn f:rnnnl'l1nt Llrlrll'ti,-...,.,11" PJ.-.,;~-1-l'·N' +'.-.;1,.., 
--- .,: __ _, .... -. ........... ...., ....... ....,., ..... '-"- .._.,'.._,..&..&...L_tJ..LUI..L.U.\Je .L.L.\.A.U lJ~V~lU.~~J, ~ ~Q..~illJ J.J. J.d,ll~ 

to respond to this argument in his response briefs. See 
generally Dkt. Nos. [34, 35]. Accordingly, the Court finds 
that Plaintiff has not adequately pleaded a predicate act 
for violation of 18 U.S. C. § 1952. 

2. 18 U.S.C. § 1343 - Wire Fraud 

Second, Defendants argue that Plaintiff fails to 
adequately plead wire fraud. Dkt. No. [32-1] at 19-21; 
Dkt. No. [33-1] at 28-29. "[W]ire fraud occurs when a 
person (1) intentionally participates in a scheme to defraud 
another of money or property and (2) uses the ... wires in 
furtherance of that scheme." Am. Dental, 605 F.3d at 1290. 

Defendant Rasband contends that the Amended 
Complaint provides insufficient facts establishing specific 
misrepresentations regarding Plaintiff and does not 
identify the time and place any alleged misrepresentations 
were made. Dkt. No. [32-1] at 20-21. Defendants ADI and 
Tozer argue that Plaintiff's allegations that "Defendants 
'falsely portray[ed]' [him] as the 'primacy actor in the 
deferred billing scheme' or made him a scapegoat still 
does not allege that [Plaintiff] was defrauded of money or 
property using the wires." Dkt. No. [33-1] at 29 (quoting 
Dkt. No. [29] ~~ 291-92). 
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In response to both motions to dismiss, Plaintiff 
argues that the Amended Complaint shows Defendants 
engaged in two types of wire fraud. The first is that 
Defendants "purposefully facilitated and ensured 
[Plaintiff's] exclusion from the relevant commercial textile 
market by spreading fraudulent, false and unwarranted 
rumors about [Plaintiff] serving as the mastermind and 
leader of a deferred billing scheme for goods sold to 
ALSCO during his time at AD I." Dkt. No. [35] at 18; see 
also Dkt. No. [34] at 19. The second is that Defendants 
used email to deceive ALSCO by engaging in "a pattern 
of passing off inferior goods to ALSCO" and deferring 
billing to placate ALSCO purchasers. Dkt. No. [35] at 20; 
Dkt. No. [34] at 19-20. 

a. Rumors regarding Plaintiff 

With regard to the first category of wire fraud, the 
Amended Complaint provides that "false allegations of 
misconduct on the part of [Plaintiff] were disseminated 
to other ALSCO employees." Dkt. No. [29] ~ 194. Plaintiff 
also alleges that Defendants "unfairly and prejudicially 
blamed" him for the deferred billing; that Defendants 
accused him of insubordinate and criminal conduct; that 
Defendants interfered with his ability to do business with 
ALSCO; and that Defendants induced ALSCO to refrain 
from purchasing through Plaintiff. I d. ~~ 201, 203, 210-11. 
However, the Amended Complaint does not allege that 
Defendants made these communications using the wires. 

Plaintiff identifies only one instance where "[i]t is 
believed that ... [a communication] occurred through e-mail 
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or over the telephone." Dkt. No. [29] 11196. Plaintiff alleges 
Mr. Rasband contacted Plaintiff's supervisors at Baltic 
and informed them that it was a "big mistake" to have 
hired Plaintiff. !d. However, Mr. Rasband's statement 
is his opinion; it is not an untrue statement sufficient to 
establish fraudulent conduct. Cf Next Century Comm'cns 
Corp. v. Ellis, 318 F.3d 1023, 1027 (11th Cir. 2003) (holding 
that a statement of opinion is not actionable under a fraud 
theory under Georgia law, noting "a party is not justified 
in relying on and assuming to be true ... expressions of 
opinion" (quoting GCA Strategic Inv. Fund, Ltd. v. Joseph 
Charles &Assocs., Inc., 537 S.E.2d 677,682 (Ga. Ct. App. 
2000)). 

Because Plaintiff fails to allege that Defendants used 
the wires to spread false information about him, this 
category of allegations does not state a claim for wire 
fraud. See Am. Dental, 605 F.3d at 1290. ("[W]ire fraud 
occurs when a person ... uses the ... wires in furtherance 
of [a fraudulent] scheme."). 

b. Deferred Billing and Inferior Goods 
Scheme 

The second type of alleged wire fraud is based on 
allegations that Defendant ADI substituted lower quality 
goods for goods that met ALSCO's product specifications 
and that ADI and Mr. Tozer removed these inferior 
products from its warehouses in order to "falsify and rig 
product tests." Dkt. No. [29] 1111 41, 46, 49, 51. To conceal 
this scheme, Plaintiff claims that AD I altered sales records 
and shipment reports to delete the substituted items. !d. 
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~~ 51, 84. He alleges Defendant Rasband was aware that 
ADI was over-billing ALSCO by substituting inferior 
goods, but convinced ALSCO to continue purchasing 
from ADI. Id. ~~ 69-70, 79-81. Plaintiff also alleges that 
ADI increased the prices it charged ALSCO for items 
already in inventory, blaming the increase on the rise of 
bulk cotton prices affecting production costs. Id. ~~ 88-
91. To conceal the inappropriate price increases and the 
substituted goods, Defendants ADI and Tozer allegedly 
authorized deferred billing on ALSCO accounts, despite 
ALSCO management's disapproval of such practice. Id. 
~~ 114-15, 124. Plaintiff alleges that ADI's schemes 
to defraud ALSCO are reflected in various email 
communications. Id. ~~ 85, 99, 101-06, 109-10, 118. 

Assuming, without deciding, 5 that the allegations 
regarding deferred billing and inferior goods show at 
least two acts of wire fraud and establish a pattern of 
racketeering activity, the Court must determine whether 
those acts proximately caused Plaintiff's injury. See 

5. Defendant Rasband argues that there is no pattern of 
racketeering activity because the objectives of the alleged scheme 
were accomplished years ago, Dkt. No. [32-1] at 22-23, and that the 
doctrine of in pari delicto bars Plaintiff from asserting a RICO claim 
based on racketeering activity in which he actively participated. Dkt. 
No. [37] at 13-15. Defendants ADI and Tozer argue that Plaintiff's 
allegations regarding the deferred billing practice do not state a 
claim for wire fraud because the practice did not defraud Plaintiff 
of money or property, Dkt. No. [36] at 21, and cannot constitute a 
pattern of racketeering activity because the practice had only one 
victim, ALSCO. ld. at 22. Because the Court finds that Plaintiff's 
claims lack causation, the Court does not address each of these 
arguments. 
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Simpson, 744 F.3d at 705 (requiring, inter alia, a pattern 
of racketeering activity and that defendant's racketeering 
activity proximately caused the injury.) 

3. Proximate Cause 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff has not shown that the 
alleged schemes of providing inferior goods and deferring 
billing to ALSCO proximately caused Plaintiff's injury. 
Dkt. No. [37] at 17-18; Dkt. No. [36] at 23-24. Specifically, 
Defendant Rasband argues that the instances in which 
ADI allegedly misled ALSCO as to its product quality 
did not directly cause Plaintiff's salary reduction. Dkt. 
No. [32-1] at 17-18 (emphasis added). Defendants ADI 
and Tozer argue that the Amended Complaint does not 
allege that any racketeering activity proximately caused 
Plaintiff's alleged harm. Dkt. No. [36] at 23-24; Dkt. No. 
[33-1] at 31. 

Plaintiff claims he has been injured because he "has 
been ostracized from any meaningful business contact 
with ALSCO," and he "has been forced out of his position 
with Baltic." Dkt. No. [29] 1111295-96, 304-05, 318-19, 327-
28. Accepting all of Plaintiff's allegations as true, the 
Court finds no causal link between Defendants' alleged 
schemes and Plaintiff's injuries. RICO causation requires 
"some direct relation between the injury asserted and 
the injurious conduct alleged." Anza, 547 U.S. at 464 
(quoting Holmes, 503 U.S. at 268). "RICO does not 
provide a remedy for every injury that may be traced 
to a predicate act." O'Malley v. O'Neill, 887 F.2d 1557, 
1561 (11th Cir. 1989). Instead, "the compensable injury 
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flowing from a RICO violation 'necessarily is the harm 
caused by the predicate acts."' Hemi Grp., L.L.C. v. City 
of New York, 559 U.S.1, 13 (2010) (quotingAnza, 547 U.S. 
at 457). The only party directly affected by Defendants' 
alleged schemes to defraud ALSCO is ALSCO. These 
schemes, in which Plaintiff himself participated, Dkt. 
No. [29] ~~50, 85-87,99, were not the proximate cause of 
Plaintiff's loss of a business relationship with ALSCO and 
his position with Baltic. Cf O'Malley, 887 F.2d at 1560-63 
(holding employees had no RICO causation where they 
were injured as a result of their refusal to participate 
in or conceal employer's predicate acts of mail fraud). 
Because Plaintiff fails to establish proximate cause, his 
RICO claims (Counts II and IV) must be dismissed. 

4. Conspiracy 

Defendants argue that Plaintiff's claims for conspiracy 
to violate RICO should be dismissed because his 
substantive RICO claims fail. Dkt. No. [32-1] at 30 n.64; 
Dkt. No. [33-1] at 31-32. "[I]njury caused by an overt 
act that is not ... wrongful under RICO is not sufficient 
to give rise to a cause of action for [RICO conspiracy]." 
Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494,505 (2000) (citation omitted). 
Because Plaintiff fails to state a substantive RICO claim, 
his claims for RICO conspiracy (Counts III and V) based 
upon the same allegations must also be dismissed. 

Defendants' Motions to Dismiss [32, 33] are GRANTED 
with regard to Plaintiff's RICO claims (Counts II-V). 
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C. Counts VI-VIII: Interference with Business 
Relations, Interference with Employment, and 
Civil Conspiracy 

Defendants move to dismiss Plaintiff's claims 
for Interference with Business Relations (Count VI), 
Interference \Vith Employment (Count VII), and Civil 
Conspiracy (Count VIII). 6 Defendants argue the 
interference claims fail because Defendants' alleged 
actions were privileged and not wrongful. Dkt. No. [32-1] 
at30-34; Dkt. No. [33-1] at33-38. Because the interference 
claims fail, Defendants contend Plaintiff's conspiracy 
claim must be dismissed for lack of an underlying tort. 
Dkt. No. [32-1] at 34-35; Dkt. No. [33-1] at 38-39. 

Under Georgia law, all tortious interference claims 
share certain common elements: 

(1) improper action or wrongful conduct by the 
defendant without privilege; (2) the defendant 
acted purposely and with malice with the intent 
to injure; (3) the defendant induced a breach 
of contractual obligations or caused a party 
or third parties to discontinue or fail to enter 
into an anticipated business relationship with 
the plaintiff; and (4) the defendant's tortious 
conduct proximately caused damage to the 
plaintiff. 

6. Counts VII and VIII are asserted against Defendants 
Tozer and Rasband only. 
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Disaster Servs., Inc. v. ERG P'ship, 492 S.E.2d 526, 528 
(Ga. Ct. App. 1997). 

To establish that a defendant acted "without privilege" 
under the first element, "the plaintiff must show that 
the defendant was a stranger to the contract or business 
relation at issue." Mabra v. SF, Inc., 728 S.E.2d 737, 
740 (Ga. Ct. App. 2012). The "stranger" inquiry asks 
not whether the defendant is a party to the contract 
or relationship, but whether he has "a direct economic 
interest in or would benefit from a contract with which 
[he is] alleged to have interfered." Id. (citing Atl. Mkt. 
Cent. Mgmt., Co. v. McLane, 503 S.E.2d 278, 282-83 (Ga. 
1998)). In order to be liable for tortious interference "the 
defendant must be a stranger to both the contract and 
the business relationship giving rise to and underpinning 
the contract." McLane, 503 S.E.2d at 283. Accordingly, all 
parties to "an interwoven contractual arrangement are not 
liable for tortious interference with any of the contracts 
or business relationships." I d. at 283-84. 

In his Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that the 
business relationship and contract at issue was implied. 
Plaintiff contends that Defendants interfered with his 
ability to transact business with ALSCO by insinuating 
Plaintiff had engaged in improper conduct and directing 
ALSCO, its affiliates, and its employees not to transact 
business with [Plaintiff]. Dkt. No. [29] ~~ 337-38, 341. 
Plaintiff also claims that Defendants interfered with his 
employment relationship with Baltic when they implied 
Plaintiff was "the sole ADI employee engaged in deferred 
billing and that he acted as an unethical 'lone wolf."' 
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!d. ~ 353. He alleges Mr. Rasband indicated to Baltic 
supervisors that Plaintiff was a "bad guy," id. ~ 354, and 
that ADI had made a "big mistake" when it hired Plaintiff. 
!d.~ 357 Plaintiff contends that these statements, along 
with Defendants' interference with his relationship with 
ALSCO, impacted his employment relationship with 
Baltic. Dkt. No. [29] at 367-68. 

1. Plaintiff's Claims that Defendants Interfered 
with his Business Relationship with 
ALSCO 

Defendants first argue that Plaintiff's claim for 
interference with business relations should be dismissed 
because the Amended Complaint shows they were not 
strangers to Plaintiff's relationship with ALSCO. Dkt. 
No. [32-1] at 31-33; Dkt. No. [33-1] at 34-35. 

a. Defendants ADI and Tozer 

Defendants ADI and Tozer cite Plaintiff's allegation 
that his relationship with ALSCO "arose through the 
course of his dealings with ALSCO." Dkt. No. [33-1] at 
33, 35 (quoting Dkt. No. [29] ~ 335). They argue that 
these "dealings with ALSCO" occurred while Plaintiff 
was an ADI employee reporting to Mr. Tozer, so any 
relationship between Plaintiff and ALSCO derives from 
ADI's relationship with ALSCO. !d. at 35. Defendants 
ADI and Tozer allege that these relationships constitute 
a "comprehensive interwoven set of contracts," to which 
they are not strangers. !d. Further, they argue, ADI has 
an economic interest in keeping Plaintiff from using the 
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knowledge of ALSCO he acquired while he was an ADI 
employee to benefit Baltic, a competitor of ADI. I d. 

In response, Plaintiff argues that "a business 
relationship arose between himself and ALSCO that was 
parallel to, but separate from, the relationship between 
ADI and ALSCO." Dkt. No. [34] at 24. He argues that 
the relationship continued when he left ADI and began 
working for Baltic, and the law does not require him to 
show a separate contract existed between himself and 
ALSCO.Jd. 

Plaintiff also argues that ALSCO was not a party to 
the implied agreement between himself and ADI, nor did 
ADI require Plaintiff to do business with ALSCO. !d. at 
25. Plaintiff distinguishes this situation from the facts 
of Harrick v. National Collegiate Athletic Association, 
454 F. Supp. 2d 1255 (N.D. Ga. 2006), where the court 
dismissed two former college basketball coaches' claims 
against the NCAA for tortious interference with their 
contractual relations with their university employer. In 
Harrick, the court noted that plaintiffs' contracts with 
the university required them to comply with NCAA 
regulations; therefore the NCAA was not a stranger to 
the contracts. I d. at 1260. Plaintiff argues that his claim 
against ADI and Mr. Tozer should not be dismissed 
because, unlike Harrick, his relationship with ADI did 
not require him to do business with ALSCO. 

Plaintiff misapplies H arrick to the facts of this 
case. The relevant inquiry is not whether ALSCO is a 
stranger to Plaintiff's relationship with ADI and Mr. 
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Tozer, but whether ADI and Mr. Tozer are strangers to 
Plaintiff's relationship with ALSCO-the relationship 
in which Defendants allegedly interfered. In Harrick, 
the court explained that plaintiffs' responsibilities under 
their contracts were "subject to and dependent upon the 
[university's] participation in the NCAA," which made 
the NC~L\~A "an essential entity" in the relationships at 
issue. I d. 

Here, Plaintiff's Amended Complaint shows his 
relationship with ALSCO was created from ALSCO's 
business relationship with ADI and Plaintiff's employment 
relationship with ADI and Mr. Tozer. Plaintiff alleges 
"ADI's largest customer is ALSCO" and "most of the 
products purchased by ALSCO for the restaurant linen 
rental market were manufactured either by ADI or 
Venus." Dkt. No. [29] ~~ 13, 30. Plaintiff explains that 
in his position as regional sales manager, his immediate 
supervisor was Defendant Tozer, ADI's national sales 
director. Id. ~ 14. Further, the Amended Complaint 
provides that Plaintiff "served as one of ADI's leading 
sales persons to ALSCO." Id. ~ 16. These facts show an 
interwoven set of relationships that necessarily involve 
ADI and Mr. Tozer. Plaintiff's entire business relationship 
with ALSCO arose from his employment relationship 
with ADI. 

Plaintiff's argument that he developed a parallel but 
separate relationship with ALSCO after his employment 
with ADI was terminated does not change the Court's 
conclusion. Similar facts were presented in Britt/Paulk 
Insurance Agency, Inc. v. Vandroff Insurance Agency, 
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Inc., 952 F. Supp. 1575, 1584-85 (N.D. Ga. 1996), where 
the court dismissed all of plaintiff's tortious interference 
claims. The plaintiff in Britt/Paulk was an insurance 
agency that marketed and sold defendant's insurance 
products to sub-producer insurance agents, who sold 
directly to insureds. Id. at 1584. After plaintiff was 
terminated from selling defendant's insurance products, it 
found another insurance carrier but struggled to continue 
its relationships with the sub-producers and insureds 
to which it had marketed defendant's insurance. Id. at 
1584-85. The plaintiff sued defendant, alleging tortious 
interference with plaintiff's relationships with the sub
producers and insureds. Id. at 1585. The court found 
that defendant was not a stranger to those relationships 
because the relationships were first created because of 
Plaintiff's relationship with defendant. !d. The instant 
case presents the same situation. 

Plaintiff argues that even if ADI was not a stranger 
to his relationship with ALSCO while he was employed 
by ADI, "the substance of that argument evaporates 
entirely once [he] went to work for Baltic." Dkt. No. [34] 
at 26. Implying that he and ADI became competitors 
once he began working for Baltic, Plaintiff argues that 
under Georgia law "a competitor and its agents are third 
parties who may be liable for interference." Id. (citing 
Tom's Amusement Co., Inc. v. Total Vending Servs., 533 
S.E.2d 413, 417 (Ga. Ct. App. 2000)).7 Plaintiff ignores 

7. Plaintiff also argues that under Georgia law, "an employee 
may be liable for tortious interference with the customers of his/ 
her former employer." !d. (citing Trotman v. Velociteach Project 
Mgmt., L.L.C., 715 S.E.2d 449,457 (Ga. Ct. App. 2007)). He argues 
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an important distinction in the relationship structure 
presented in Tom's Amusement. There, the plaintiff 
company brought tortious interference claims against 
its former employee and his new employer, a competitor 
company. ld. at 415-16. The plaintiff alleged the former 
employee solicited two of plaintiff's customers on behalf 
of the competitor: one vvhile he was still employed by the 
plaintiff, and another after he left. !d. The court found that 
the competitor company and its agents who assisted in the 
interference could be held liable, but the former employee 
could not-even for the customer he solicited after he left 
plaintiff's employment. !d. at 418. "Regardless of whether 
an employee is acting as an agent of his employer when 
engaging in the interference, he is not a stranger to 
the business relationship between his employer and the 
customers he personally services." !d. at 417. 

Plaintiff's characterization of ADI and Mr. Tozer as 
"a competitor and its agents" is erroneous and ignores the 
history among the parties. Instead, Plaintiff and ADI/ 
Tozer stand in a "former employment" relationship similar 
to that in Tom's Amusement. Just as the former employee 
in Tom's Amusement was not a stranger to his former 
employer's business relationships with its customers 
(even after he began working for a competitor) Plaintiff 
and ADI/Tozer did not suddenly become strangers to 
Plaintiff's relationship with ALSCO. Accordingly, the 
Court finds that ADI and Mr. Tozer cannot be liable for 
tortious interference with Plaintiff's business relations 
withALSCO. 

that such a holding logically requires the employer to be liable for 
the same conduct. The authority Plaintiff cites does not support his 
statement of law. 
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Defendants ADI and Tozer's Motion to Dismiss [33] 
is GRANTED with regard to Plaintiff's claim for tortious 
interference with business relations (Count VI). 

b. Defendant Rasband 

Defendant Rasband relies on allegations in the 
Amended Complaint showing that he "served as an 
'outside consultant' for ALSCO, advising management 
on the pricing of textiles" and was Plaintiff's "primary 
contact with ALSCo"' Dkt. No. [32-1] at 32-33 (quoting 
Dkt. No. [29] ~~ 24-25). Based on these allegations, 
he argues he was clearly not a stranger to Plaintiff's 
relationship with ALSCO. In support of his argument, 
he cites Benefit Support, Inc. v. Hall County, 637 S.E.2d 
763, 770 (Ga. Ct. App. 2006), where the court found that 
outside consultants to the county were not strangers to the 
county's business relationships on which the consultants 
advised. 

Plaintiff contends that privilege is an affirmative 
defense and the issue should be resolved by a jury. Dkt. 
No. [35] at 31-32 (citing Gaskins v. Hand, 466 S.E.2d 
688, 690 (Ga. Ct. App. 1996)). He does not respond to 
Defendant Rasband's argument that he was not a stranger 
to Plaintiff's relationship with ALSCO, but argues that 
ADI and Mr. Tozer are strangers to his relationship with 
ALSCO. See generally Dkt. No. [35] at 32-34. 

Plaintiff's reliance on Gaskins is misplaced. There, 
the court held there were issues of fact regarding whether 
defendant's actions were privileged, but not whether 
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defendant was a stranger to the business relations at issue. 
Gaskins, 466 S.E .2d at 689-90. The facts of Gaskins show 
that the defendant was not involved in plaintiff's business 
relations with its customers, and the stranger doctrine 
was not raised. ld. at 689. As the Court indicated in its 
discussion of the relevant law, Plaintiff must show that 
Defendants are strangers to the relationships at issue 
to state a claim for tortious interference. See Mabra, 
728 S.E.2d at 740. Based solely on the facts alleged in 
Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and the relevant law, 
the Court concludes that Defendant Rasband was not a 
stranger to Plaintiff's relationship with ALSCO. 

Accordingly, the Court finds that Mr. Rasband cannot 
be liable for tortious interference with Plaintiff's business 
relations with ALSCO. Defendant Rasband's Motion to 
Dismiss [32] is GRANTED with regard to Plaintiff's 
claim for tortious interference with business relations 
(Count VI). 

2. Plaintiff's Claim that Defendants Rasband 
and Tozer Interfered with his Employment 
Relationship with Baltic 

a. Defendant Rasband 

Defendant Rasband argues that Plaintiffs interference 
with employment claim also fails because Defendant 
Rasband was not a stranger to Plaintiff's relationship with 
Baltic. Dkt. No. [32-1] at 34. He cites Plaintiff's Amended 
Complaint, providing that "[t]he fact that [Plaintiff] was 
unable to transact business with ALSCO impacted on 
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his relationship with Baltic." Id. (citing Dkt. No. [29] 
~ 368). Defendant Rasband argues this shows Plaintiff's 
relationship with Baltic was "inextricably dependent upon" 
Plaintiff's relationship with ALSCO, and constituted 
an "interwoven contractual arrangement." ld. (citing 
McLane, 503 S.E.2d at 283-84). 

Plaintiff does not respond to Defendant's argument, 
see generally Dkt. No. [35] at 31-36, therefore the Court 
considers it unopposed. Defendant Rasband's Motion to 
Dismiss [32] is GRANTED with regard to Plaintiff's claim 
for tortious interference with employment (Count VII). 

b. Defendant Tozer 

Defendant Tozer notes that Plaintiff's claim against 
him for interference with employment is based on 
allegations that Mr. Tozer "implied that [Plaintiff] was 
the sole ADI employee engaged in deferred billing" and 
"discouraged and prohibited [ALSCO employees] from 
transacting business with Baltic or with [Plaintiff]." Dkt. 
No. [33-1] at 36-37 (quoting Dkt. No. [29] ~~ 353, 363). 
Defendant Tozer argues that Plaintiff's claim fails because 
he has not alleged that: (1) Mr. Tozer acted with malice 
or intended to injure him, (2) Mr. Tozer persuaded Baltic 
to terminate Plaintiff, (3) Plaintiff was terminated from 
his employment, or (4) Mr. Tozer's actions were wrongful. 
Dkt. No. [33-1] at 37-38. 

Even though an employment contract is terminable 
at will, it is a valuable contract right, which may not be 
unlawfully interfered with by an unauthorized third 
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person. Moore v. Barge, 436 S.E.2d 746, 748 (Ga. Ct. App. 
1993). An employee states a claim for tortious interference 
with at-will employment where "a party with no authority 
to discharge the employee, being activated by an unlawful 
scheme or purpose to injure and damage the employee, 
maliciously and unlawfully persuades the employer to 
breach the contract vvith the employee." Hrathwa-ite 'V. 

Fulton-DeKalb Hosp. Auth., 729 S.E.2d 625, 628 (Ga. Ct. 
App. 2012) (quoting Moore, 436 S.E.2d at 748); Rose v. 
Zurowski, 511 S.E.2d 265,266 (Ga. Ct. App. 1999). 

Plaintiff responds that the facts set forth in the 
Amended Complaint indicate "the Defendants intentionally 
exaggerated [Plaintiff's] role in the deferred billing 
matter," Dkt. No. [34] at 30, and that "Defendants actively 
contacted Baltic executives, informing them that [Plaintiff] 
was to have no contact with ALSCO." !d. (citing Dkt. No. 
[29] 1111 229-231). Further, Plaintiff contends that "because 
of his restricted access to ALSCO, llaltic reduced [his] 
salary, which in turn ultimately led to [his] severance from 
Baltic." ld. (citing Dkt. No. [29] 11 245. Finally, Plaintiff 
argues that the facts in the Amended Complaint "suggest 
that the Defendants continued to deflect any culpability 
for the deferred billing onto [Plaintiff] alone," which 
constitutes wrongdoing. !d. at 31. 

Plaintiff's argument that "Defendants actively 
contacted Baltic executives" is unsupported by the 
allegations in his Amended Complaint. The allegations he 
cites pertain only to Defendant Rasband, not Defendant 
Tozer. See Dkt. No. [29] 1111 229-231. There are no 
allegations in the Amended Complaint that Defendant 
Tozer had any contact with Baltic regarding Plaintiff. 
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Instead, Plaintiff's claim is based on allegations that 
Mr. Tozer "implied" Plaintiff was responsible for the 
deferred billing scheme and "discouraged and prohibited" 
ALSCO from doing business with Plaintiff. Dkt. No. [29] 
~~ 353, 363. Essentially, Plaintiff's interference with 
employment claim is based solely on his allegations that 
Mr. Tozer interfered with his business relationship with 
ALSCO. Because this Court found that Mr. Tozer's actions 
directly related to Plaintiff's business relationship with 
ALSCO were privileged, it cannot find that the same 
actions were "unlawful" based on their indirect effects. 

However, even if Mr. Tozer's actions were unlawful, 
Plaintiff has not alleged that those actions persuaded 
Baltic to terminate his employment. Further, the 
Amended Complaint fails to allege that Mr. Tozer acted 
with malice. Based on these shortcomings, Plaintiff 
has not stated a claim for tortious interference with 
employment. See Brathwaite, 729 S.E.2d at 628 (holding 
tortious interference with at-will employment is stated 
where "a party ... maliciously and unlawfully persuades 
the employer to breach the contract with the employee"). 

Defendant Tozer's Motion to Dismiss [33] is GRANTED 
with regard to Plaintiff's claim for tortious interference 
with employment (Count VII). 

3. Civil Conspiracy 

Defendants Rasband and Tozer argue Plaintiff's civil 
conspiracy claim fails because there is no underlying tort 
on which conspiracy liability could be based. Dkt. No. [33-
1] at 38-39; Dkt. No. [32-1] at 34-35. 
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To state a claim for conspiracy, "a plaintiff must show 
that two or more persons, acting in concert, engaged in 
conduct that constitutes a tort. Absent the underlying 
tort, there can be no liability for civil conspiracy." Jenkins 
v. Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass'n., 711 S.E.2d So, 80 (Ga. 
Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Hartsock v. Rich's Emps. Credit 
Union, 632 S.E.2d 476,478 (Ga. Ct. App. 2006)). 

Because the Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to 
state a tort claim against Defendants Tozer and Rasband, 
there is no underlying tort which Defendants could have 
committed "in concert." Accordingly, Plaintiff's conspiracy 
claim must be dismissed. Defendants Tozer and Rasband's 
Motions to Dismiss [32, 33] are GRANTED with regard 
to Plaintiff's claim for civil conspiracy (Count VIII). 

D. Counts IX and X: Fraud and Negligent 
Misrepresentation 

Defendants ADI and Tozer move to dismiss 
Plaintiff's claims for Fraud (Count IX) and Negligent 
Misrepresentation (Count X) arguing that Plaintiff has not 
pleaded a false statement of fact. Dkt. No. [33-1] at 41-44. 

To establish a fraud claim under Georgia law, a 
plaintiff must show: (1) a false representation by the 
defendant; (2) scienter; (3) an intent to induce the plaintiff 
to act or refrain from acting; (4) justifiable reliance by 
the plaintiff; and (5) damage to the plaintiff proximately 
caused by the reliance. Am. Casual Dining, L.P. v. Moe's 
Sw. Grill, L.L.C., 426 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1364 (N.D. Ga. 
2006) (citing Next Century Commc'ns. Corp. v. Ellis, 318 
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F.3d 1023, 1027 (11th Cir. 2003)). Similarly, the elements 
of negligent misrepresentation are: (1) the defendant's 
negligent supply of false information to foreseeable 
persons, known or unknown; (2) such persons' reasonable 
reliance upon that false information; and (3) economic 
injury proximately resulting from such reliance." See, 
e.g., Marquis Towers, Inc. v. Highland Grp., 593 S.E.2d 
903, 906 (Ga. Ct. App. 2004). "[T]he only real distinction 
between negligent misrepresentation and fraud is the 
absence of the element of knowledge of the falsity of the 
information disclosed." Holmes v. Grubman, 691 S.E.2d 
196, 200 (Ga. 2010). 

Fraud and misrepresentation claims under Georgia 
law require "misrepresentation of a material fact." Allison 
v. McGhan Med. Corp., 184 F.3d 1300, 1307 (11th Cir. 
1999). A claim for fraud cannot be based on statements of 
opinion. Synergy Worldwide, Inc. v. Long, Haymes, Carr, 
Inc., 44 F. Supp. 2d 1348, 1357 (N.D. Ga. 1998). Promises 
as to future conduct will not support a claim for fraud 
unless the promisor knew at the time he made the promise 
that he did not intend to honor it. Johnson v. Univ. Health 
Servs., 931 F. Supp. 1572 (S.D. Ga. 1996). 

Plaintiff's fraud and negligent misrepresentation 
claims are based on Defendant Tozer's alleged 
representations to Plaintiff that he "would be eligible 
for a severance payment upon his departure from ADI, 
regardless of the circumstances of that departure." Dkt. 
No. [29] ~~ 391, 401. Plaintiff alleges Defendant Tozer 
"repeatedly represented" this, including in an email dated 
March 14, 2011. Id. ~~ 391, 394. Plaintiff contends that 
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he "relied upon these representations to his detriment, 
was thereby induced to leave ADI, was induced to train 
his replacement, and did not, as a result, negotiate any 
payment schedule or compensation from ADI prior to his 
departure." Id. 1111 396, 406. 

Defendants ADI and Tozer first argue that Plaintiff 
has not pleaded a false statement of fact, as the 
representation that Plaintiff "would be eligible for 
severance pay" constitutes an expression of opinion, or at 
most, a promise as to future conduct. Dkt. No. [33-1] at 
40-41,43. They argue that such a promise cannot support 
a fraud claim because it could not be enforced, as "the 
underlying employment contract, being terminable at will, 
is unenforceable." Id. at 40 (quoting Taylor v. Amisub, 
Inc., 368 S.E.2d 791, 793 (Ga. Ct. App. 1988)). 

In response, Plaintiff argues that the promises 
regarding severance pay were concrete and enfureeable, 
despite his at-will employment. Dkt. No. [34] at 32. He 
contends that "[w]hen a promise for future payments is 
enforceable, an action for fraud may lie when the promisor 
has intentionally failed to carry out his/her promise." I d. 
at 33 (citing Taylor, 368 S.E.2d 791). In support of this 
argument, Plaintiff points to the allegation in his Amended 
Complaint that "Mr. Tozer expressly encouraged 
[Plaintiff] to seek severance payments from ADI ... when 
he left." ld. (quoting Dkt. No. [29] 11171). He argues that 
the "facts of the Amended Complaint suggest[] that a 
latent severance agreement had been in place from the 
time he commenced work at AD I." !d. 
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After a review of the case law cited by the parties, the 
Court finds that the facts as alleged do not state a claim 
for fraud or negligent misrepresentation. Where a promise 
is unenforceable under a contract theory it cannot support 
a claim for fraud, even if the promise was made with a 
present intention not to perform. Taylor, 368 S.E.2d at 
793; Edwards v. Cent. Ga. HHS, Inc., 558 S.E.2d 815,817 
(Ga. Ct. App. 2002) (holding that the exception regarding 
intent not to perform on a promise does not apply where 
the promise on which the plaintiff relies to establish fraud 
is unenforceable under a contract theory). The question 
becomes whether a promise of future severance pay to an 
at-will employee is enforceable. Under Georgia law, "an 
employee may sue on an oral contract for employment 
terminable at will 'for the amount of compensation due 
her, based upon services actually performed by her up 
to the time of her discharge, and not for damages or 
for compensation for services not performed or for any 
breach of contract."' McLane v. Atl. Mkt. Cent. Mgmt. 
Co., 486 S.E.2d 30, 34 (Ga. Ct. App. 1997), vacated in 
part on other grounds, 510 S.E.2d 358 (Ga. Ct. App. 1998) 
(mem.). A breach of contract claim based upon a promise 
to pay severance is unenforceable absent a promise to pay 
a determinable sum. Id. 35-36. Here, Plaintiff does not 
claim ADI owes him compensation for services actually 
performed before his discharge, but seeks to enforce an 
alleged promise to pay him severance. The Amended 
Complaint does not allege Mr. Tozer or any other agent of 
ADI promised Plaintiff a "determinable sum," therefore 
the promise could not be enforced under a breach of 
contract theory. Because Mr. Tozer's alleged statements 
constitute an unenforceable promise as to a future event, 
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Plaintiff has failed to plead a misrepresentation of 
fact sufficient to support a claim for fraud or negligent 
misrepresentation. 

Accordingly, Defendants ADI and Tozer's Motion to 
Dismiss [33] is GRANTED with regard to Plaintiff's claims 
for fraud (Count IX) and negligent misrepresentation 
(Count X). 

IV. CONCLUSION 

The Court hereby GRANTS Defendant Paul Rasband's 
Motion to Dismiss [32] and Defendants American Dawn, 
Inc. and Vyto Tozer's Motion to Dismiss [33]. The Clerk 
is DIRECTED to close this case. 

IT IS SO ORDERED this 15th day of September, 2015. 

Leigh Martin May 
United States District Judge 
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APPENDIX C -JUDGMENT OF THE UNITED 
STATES DISTRICT COURT, NORTHERN 

DISTRICT OF GEORGIA, ATLANTA DIVISION, 
FILED SEPTEMBER 16, 2015 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

CIVIL ACTION FILE NO. 1:14-cv-3006-LMM 

ANDREW FELDMAN, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

AMERICAN DAWN, INC., et al., 

Defendants. 

JUDGMENT 

This action having come before the Court, Honorable 
Leigh Martin may, United States District Judge, for 
consideration of defendants' Motions to Dismiss, and the 
Court having granted said motions, it is 

Ordered and Adjudged that this action be, and the 
same hereby, is dismissed. 

Dated at Atlanta, Georgia, this 16th day of September, 
2015. 
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JAMES N. HATTEN 
CLERK OF COURT 

By: s/Denise D. M. McGoldrick 
Deputy Clerk 



61a 

APPENDIX D - ORDER OF THE UNITED 
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN 

DISTRICT OF GEORGIA, ATLANTA DIVISION, 
FILED MARCH 16, 2016 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

CIVIL ACTION NO. 1:14-CV-3006-LMM 

ANDREW FELDMAN, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

AMERICAN DAWN, INC., VYTO TOZER 
AND PAUL RASBAND, 

Defendants. 

ORDER 

This matter comes before the Court on Plaintiffs 
Motion for Reconsideration [ 42] of this Court's September 
16, 2015 Order [40] granting Defendants' Motions to 
Dismiss. 

Under the Local Rules of this Court, "[m]otions for 
reconsideration shall not be filed as a matter of routine 
practice[,]" but rather, only when "absolutely necessary." 
LR 7.2(E), NDGa. Such absolute necessity arises where 
there is "(1) newly discovered evidence; (2) an intervening 
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development or change in controlling law; or (3) a need to 
correct a clear error oflaw or fact." Bryan v. Murphy, 246 
.F'. Supp. 2d 1256, 1258-59 (N.D. Ga. 2003). A motion for 
reconsideration may not be used "to present the court with 
arguments already heard and dismissed or to repackage 
familiar arguments to test whether the court will change 
ih; minil" Trl !:It 19!=\Q 1\T, .... m'ln ii- hn """r1 "<-" ,.,..('.(',.,.~ ll""· --'~ ----- ............. ......;. 'LN\J ............ n~.JV• ..L'IV.L ~J.J.Ut.f J.\.1 uv uoc;u lJU V.lJ.t:.l 1 ew 

legal theories or evidence that could have been presented 
in conjunction with the previously filed motion or response, 
unless a reason is given for failing to raise the issue at an 
earlier stage in the litigation.'' Adlerv. Wallace Computer 
Servs., Inc., 202 .F'.R.D. 666, 675 (N.D. Ga. 2001). 

Plaintiff does not state any appropriate ground for 
reconsideration beyond his broad contention that "this 
Court made several errors." Dkt. No. [42-2] at 1-2. Plaintiff 
does not indicate whether the Court made an error of 
law or fact, nor does he specifically explain how any such 
error was "clear error." Bryan, 246 .F'. Supp. 2d at 1259. 
Rather, Plaintiffs brief is best characterized as a reply 
to the Court's Order; it primarily rehashes arguments 
previously made in response to Defendants' motions. 
Compare Dkt. No. [42-2] with Dkt. Nos. [34, 35]. In some 
instances, Plaintiff raises new arguments that could have 
been made in his responses, and in others he raises facts 
that were not included in the First Amended Complaint. 
The Court may reconsider a prior order only in limited 
circumstances, and Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate that 
one of those circumstances applies here. See Bryan, 246 
.F'. Supp. 2d at 1259; Adler, 202 F.R.D. at 675. Accordingly, 
Plaintiffs Motion for Reconsideration [ 42] is DENIED. 
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IT IS SO ORDERED this 16th day of March, 2016. 

s 
Leigh Martin May 
United State District Judge 
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APPENDIX E - ORDER OF THE UNITED 
STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE 

ELEVENTH CIRCUIT, DATED MAY 1, 2017 

IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

No. 16-11663-FF 

ANDREW FELDMAN, 

PlaintifY:Appellant, 

versus 

AMERICAN DAWN, INC., VYTO TOZER, 
PAUL RASBAND, 

Defendants-Appellees. 

Appeal from the United States District Court 
for the Northern District of Georgia 

ON PETITION(S) FOR REHEARING AND 
PETITION(S) FOR REHEARING EN BANG 

BEFORE: WILLIAM PRYOR, JORDAN and 
BALDOCK*, Circuit Judges. 

PER CURIAM: 

* Honorable Bobby R. Baldock, United States Circuit Judge 
for the Tenth Circuit, sitting by designation. 
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The Petition(s) for Rehearing are DENIED and no Judge 
in regular active service on the Court having requested 
that the Court be polled on rehearing en bane (Rule 35, 
Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure), the Petition(s) for 
Rehearing En Bane are DENIED. 

ENTERED FOR THE COURT: 

s 
UNITED STATES CIRCUIT JUDGE 
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15 uses§ 1 

§ 1. Trusts, etc., in restraint of trade illegal; penalty 

Every contract, combination in the form of trust or 
othenvise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce 
among the several States, or with foreign nations, is 
hereby declared to be illegal. Every person who shall make 
any contract or engage in any combination or conspiracy 
hereby declared to be illegal shall be deemed guilty of a 
felony, and, on conviction thereof, shall be punished by 
fine not exceeding $ 100,000,000 if a corporation, or, if 
any other person, $ 1,000,000, or by imprisonment not 
exceeding 10 years, or by both said punishments, in the 
discretion of the court. 
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15 uses§ 15 

(a) Amount of recovery; prejudgment interestExcept 
as provided in subsection (b), any person who shall 
be injured in his business or property by reason of 
anything forbidden in the antitrust laws may sue 
therefor in any district court of the United States 
in the district in which the defendant resides 
or is found or has an agent, without respect to 
the amount in controversy, and shall recover 
threefold the damages by him sustained, and the 
cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee. 
The court may award under this section, pursuant 
to a motion by such person promptly made, 
simple interest on actual damages for the period 
beginning on the date of service of such person's 
pleading setting forth a claim under the antitrust 
laws and ending on the date of judgment, or for 
any shorter period therein, if the court finds that 
the award of such interest for such period is just 
in the circumstances. In determining whether 
an award of interest under this section for any 
period is just in the circumstances, the court shall 
consider only-

(1) whether such person or the opposing party, 
or either party's representative, made 
motions or asserted claims or defenses so 
lacking in merit as to show that such party or 
representative acted intentionally for delay, 
or otherwise acted in bad faith; 
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(2) whether, in the course of the action involved, 
such person or the opposing party, or either 
party's representative, violated any applicable 
rule, statute, or court order providing for 
sanctions for dilatory behavior or otherwise 
providing for expeditious proceedings; and 

(3) whether such person or the opposing party, 
or either party's representative, engaged in 
conduct primarily for the purpose of delaying 
the litigation or increasing the cost thereof. 

(b) Amount of damages payable to foreign states and 
instrumentalities of foreign states 

(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), any 
person who is a foreign state may not recover 
under subsection (a) an amount in excess of 
the actual damages sustained by iL and the 
cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney's 
fee. 

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not apply to a foreign state 
if-

(A) such foreign state would be denied, under 
section 1605(a)(2) of title 28, immunity in 
a case in which the action is based upon 
a commercial activity, or an act, that is 
the subject matter of its claim under this 
section; 
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(B) such foreign state waives all defenses 
based upon or arising out of its status 
as a foreign state, to any claims brought 
against it in the same action; 

(C) such foreign state engages primarily in 
commercial activities; and 

(D) such foreign state does not function, with 
respect to the commercial activity, or the 
act, that is the subject matter of its claim 
under this section as a procurement entity 
for itself or for another foreign state. 

(c) Definitions For purposes of this section-

(1) the term "commercial activity" shall have the 
meaning given it in section 1603(d) of title 28, 
and 

(2) the term "foreign state" shall have the 
meaning given it in section 1603(a) of title 28. 


